
 

 

Notice of meeting and agenda 

 

 

Planning Committee 

 

2.00 pm Wednesday, 22nd January, 2020 

 

Dean of Guild Court Room - City Chambers 

 

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to attend 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Veronica MacMillan, Committee Services 

Email: veronica.macmillan@edinburgh.gov.uk   

Tel: 0131 529 4283  

 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:veronica.macmillan@edinburgh.gov.uk


 

Planning Committee - 22 January 2020 Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Order of Business 

1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 

 

 

2. Declaration of interests 

2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 

the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

 

3. Deputations 

3.1   If any 

 

 

4. Minutes 

4.1   None. 

 

 

5. Business Bulletin 

5.1   None. 

 

 

6. Development Plan 

6.1   Choices for City Plan 2030 – Report by the Executive Director of 

Place 

7 - 98 

7. Planning Policy 



 

Planning Committee - 22 January 2020 Page 3 of 5 

 

 

7.1   None.  

8. Planning Process 

8.1   None.  

9. Planning Performance 

9.1   None.   

10. Conservation 

10.1   None. 

 

 

11. Motions 

11.1   None. 

 

 

Laurence Rockey 

Head of Strategy and Communications 

 

Committee Members 

Councillors Councillor Neil Gardiner (Convener), Councillor Maureen Child (Vice-

Convener), Councillor Chas Booth, Councillor Mary Campbell, Councillor George 

Gordon, Councillor Joan Griffiths, Councillor Max Mitchell, Councillor Joanna Mowat, 

Councillor Hal Osler, Councillor Rob Munn and Councillor Cameron Rose 

 

Information about the Planning Committee 

The Planning Committee consists of 11 Councillors and is appointed by the City of 

Edinburgh Council.  The Planning Committee usually meets in the Dean of Guild Court 

Room in the City Chambers on the High Street in Edinburgh.  There is a seated public 

gallery and the meeting is open to all members of the public. 

 



 

Planning Committee - 22 January 2020 Page 4 of 5 

 

 

Further information 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 

Veronica MacMillan, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 

2.1, Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG, Tel 0131 529 4283, 

email veronica.macmillan@edinburgh.gov.uk  

 

A copy of the agenda and papers for this meeting will be available for inspection prior to 

the meeting at the main reception office, City Chambers, High Street, Edinburgh. 

 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council 

committees can be viewed online by going to www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cpol.  

 

Webcasting of Council meetings 

Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Convener will confirm if all or part 

of the meeting is being filmed. 

 

The Council is a Data Controller under the General Data Protection Regulation and 

Data Protection Act 2018.  We broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task 

obligation to enable members of the public to observe the democratic process.  Data 

collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 

published policy including, but not limited to, for the purpose of keeping historical 

records and making those records available via the Council’s internet site. 

 

Generally the public seating areas will not be filmed.  However, by entering the Council 

Chamber and using the public seating area, individuals may be filmed and images and 

sound recordings captured of them will be used and stored for web casting and training 

purposes and for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records 

available to the public. 

 

Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a meeting, in a deputation or 

otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical 

record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection with the relevant matter 

until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and 

mailto:veronica.macmillan@edinburgh.gov.uk
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cpol


 

Planning Committee - 22 January 2020 Page 5 of 5 

 

 

other connected processes).  Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as 

part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above. 

 

If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or 

storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial 

damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services 

(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk). 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee 

2.00pm, Wednesday, 22 January 2020 

Choices for City Plan 2030 

Executive/routine 
Wards 
Council Commitments 

All 
1, 2, 4, 10, 11, 12, 18, 26 

1. Recommendations

1.1      It is recommended that Committee: 

1.1.1 approves the attached main issues report document Choices for City Plan 

2030 (Appendix 1) for publication and consultation; 

1.1.2 delegates to the Programme Director City Plan the authority to make final 

design, layout and minor editorial changes to the consultation document; 

1.1.3 notes that the Choices for City Plan 2030 is supported by the background 

documents listed below; 

1.1.4 notes that information on the statutory consultation process is set out in the 

updated Development Plan Scheme (DPS) (Appendix 2); and 

1.1.5 agrees that the report be referred to the Transport and Environment 

Committee for noting. 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: Iain McFarlane, Programme Director City Plan  

E-mail: iain.mcfarlane@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 2419 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6.1

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/info/20141/council_commitments
mailto:iain.mcfarlane@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Report 
 

Choices for City Plan 2030 

2.    Executive Summary 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Committee’s approval of the main consultation 

document for the preparation of a new Local Development Plan (LDP), City Plan 

2030.  The consultation document, Choices for City Plan 2030, is the statutory main 

issues report as required by the relevant legislation. 

 

3.    Background 

3.1 Local authorities have to prepare LDPs for their areas and keep them up to date. The 

Council adopted its first LDP in November 2016. The replacement LDP is to be called 

City Plan 2030.  

3.2 The City Plan 2030 project commenced in 2018.  At its meeting of 30 May 2018 the 

Planning Committee received a which set out an overview of the project.  

3.3 The report set out the overall objectives for the project, including alignment with the 

wider strategic context for the Council and its partners. There are several other 

projects and strategies being progressed or implemented in parallel with the City 

Plan 2030. Project work since May 2018 has sought to ensure that these projects 

inform and are informed by City Plan 2030.  

3.4 It also identified some of the main requirements and constraints on the project. These 

include statutory requirements, which must be met if the Council is to adopt City Plan 

2030 and avoid a successful legal challenge.    

3.5 It is important that all stakeholders, including individual members of the public and 

community groups, have opportunities to influence the content of a LDP.  There are 

several stages in the preparation process when people can make statutory written 

representations to the Council.  The first of these is the present stage Choices for 

City Plan 2030. 

  

Page 8

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/57186/item_91_-_edinburgh_local_development_plan_2_project_overview


4. Main report 

Project Timetable 
 
4.1 The project timetable has been influenced by the Scottish Ministers’ consideration 

and rejection of Strategic Development Plan (SDP) 2 for South East Scotland.   By 

law, City Plan 2030 must be consistent with the approved SDP.  In rejecting SDP 2 

the Scottish Ministers referred the SESplan local authorities to SDP 1 as the 

approved SDP. The choices regarding spatial strategy and policy are influenced by 

this but the scale and type of growth which City Plan 2030 must plan for is 

considered with reference to SDP 1 along with other emerging material 

considerations  

 

4.2 Accordingly, the project timetable has been revised to reflect the work necessitated 

by the rejection of SDP 2 by Scottish Ministers on 16 May 2019.  It is proposed that 

the period for consultation on Choices is eight weeks. The process is summarised in 

the following diagram: 

 

 

4.3 The timetable for subsequent stages of the project will be updated in the annual 

review of the DPS.  Once adopted, the plan is expected to have a 10-year period 

(i.e. 2021/2031) and this is important for technical housing calculations, however, 

for simplicity’s sake most references are up to or beyond 2030. As the plan is being 

Page 9



progressed under the existing legislation that 10-year period includes a requirement 

to review the plan within five years. 

Requirements for a main issues report - Choices for City Plan 2030  
 
4.4 The key consultation document for the project is the main issues report. This is a 

statutory document which must: 

4.4.1 set out the Council’s proposals for development of the city, including where 

development should and should not happen (the ‘spatial strategy’) and other 

policy changes; 

4.4.2 set out reasonable alternatives to this; 

4.4.3 draw attention to how these options are different from the current LDP; and 

4.4.4 provide enough information to allow people to make meaningful 

representations in response to the above. 

4.5   The new main issues report has been written to be as simple and easy to access as 

possible whilst still meeting statutory requirements.  To help this, the document has 

been called ‘Choices for City Plan 2030’. 

Early Engagement (up to November 2019) 

4.6  There has been dialogue with community representatives and others to shape the 

choices to be presented in the main consultation stage in 2019. This engagement 

has included the following: 

4.6.1 community briefings and workshops: 12 briefings with community councillors 

and ward councillors in March and June 2018, February/March 2019 and six 

community workshops in late 2018; Children and Young People Engagement 

Programme: nine Place Standard workshops held in schools; 

4.6.2 topic stakeholder discussion events:  these focussed on key land use issues 

including office and industry development, housing, visitor accommodation 

and shopping and leisure;  

4.6.3 engagement with community planning partners, including the Edinburgh 

Sustainable Development Partnership and Edinburgh Voluntary 

Organisations Council (EVOC); and  

4.6.4 use of social media to build awareness and interest in the project. 

4.7 This engagement has helped the project team learn lessons from the previous LDP. 

It has also informed the policy and spatial strategy changes being presented for 

consultation.   

Supporting Documents and Studies 

4.8  The relevant legislation and both national and regional planning policy set several 

requirements on how a LDP is prepared. Some of these mean that the Choices for 

City Plan 2030 document must be accompanied by certain supporting documents.  

Page 10



4.9  These documents have been used to provide evidence and technical information, 

allowing the Choices for City Plan 2030 document to be short and written for a wide 

range of readers. 

4.10 The supporting documents are available online at 

www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030 and include: 

Monitoring Statement 

4.10.1 sets out information on the social, physical, economic and environmental 

changes in recent years, and the impact of the current LDP on them.  This 

evidence has been used to identify which aspects of planning policy may 

need to be revisited and which are lower priorities for review; 

Commercial Needs Study 

4.10.2 carried out for the Council by a grouping of Edinburgh-based property 

consultants and consisting of four sub-studies looking at: office, industrial, 

shopping/leisure and visitor accommodation demand; 

Housing Study 

4.10.3 including an assessment of housing need and demand evidence and what 

this means for Edinburgh, and studies of potential land available in the 

existing urban area and surrounding countryside. The latter study is 

supported by specialist landscape assessment; 

Edinburgh Strategic Sustainable Transport Study 

4.10.4 this provides an assessment of 10 strategic transport corridors and 

identifies strategic transport actions which could support the growth set out 

in the proposed choices.  

Environmental Report 

4.10.5 this sets out the findings of the statutory strategic environmental 

assessment of the policy and spatial strategy changes being consulted on. 

It assesses both preferred options and reasonable alternatives.  It is the 

only supporting document which is the subject of its own separate 

consultation; 

Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) 

4.10.6 implementing Council policy on consideration of the impacts of potential 

policy changes on different groups; and  

Financial Resources Appraisal 

4.10.7 outlining potential financial implications as described further in section 6 

below. 

Page 11

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030


Choices for City Plan 2030 – Outline 

 

4.11 The Choices for City Plan 2030 consultation document is attached as Appendix 1. 

4.12 Choices is structured around four outcomes as follows: 

4.12.1  a sustainable city which supports everyone’s physical and mental well being; 

4.12.2  a city in which everyone lives in a home which they can afford; 

4.12.3  a city where you don’t need to own a car to move around; and  

4.12.4 a city where everyone shares in its economic success. 

4.13 The document sets out a total of 16 choices, grouped under the above themes.  

These are summarised in the following diagram: 

A sustainable city which supports 

everyone’s physical and mental 

wellbeing 

 

1. Making Edinburgh a sustainable, active 

and connected city. 

2. Improving the quality, density and 

accessibility of new development. 

3. Delivering carbon neutral buildings.  

4. Creating place briefs and supporting the 

use of Local Place Plans in our 

communities. 

 

A city in which everyone lives in a 

home which they can afford  

 

 

9.   Protecting against the loss of         

Edinburgh’s homes to other uses. 

10. Creating sustainable communities. 

11. Delivering more affordable homes. 

12. Delivering our new homes and 

infrastructure 

A city where you don’t need to own a car 

to move around   

 

5. Delivering community infrastructure. 

6. Creating places that focus on people, 

not cars.  

7. Supporting the reduction in car use in 

Edinburgh. 

8. Delivering new walking and cycle 

routes. 

A city where everyone shares in its 

economic success 

13. Supporting inclusive growth, 

innovation, universities and culture. 

14. Delivering West Edinburgh. 

15. Protecting our city centre, town and 

local centres. 

16. Delivering office, business and 

industry floorspace. 

 

 

4.14  The key policy changes, as set out in Choices are summarised below:  

4.14.1 City Wide Green Network – introduce a new policy on Connected Green 

Environment to connect our places, parks and greenspaces together as part 

of a multi-functional, local, city-wide, regional, and national green network.  

4.14.2   Carbon Reduction - require all new buildings and refurbishments to meet   

the zero carbon / platinum standards as set out in the current Scottish 

building regulations.  

Page 12



4.14.3   Climate adaption – require all new developments, through a design and 

access statement, to demonstrate how their design will incorporate 

measures to tackle and adapt to climate change.  

4.14.4 Deliver 20,800 affordable homes and 22,600 market homes, increase the 

provision of affordable housing requirement to 35%, improve housing 

density and deliver housing on all sites coming forward for development.  

4.14.5   Maximise development around existing infrastructure - direct new 

development to where there is existing infrastructure capacity, or that new 

infrastructure can be provided.  

4.14.6   Support Local Place Plans - City Plan 2030 will set out how Local Place 

Plans can help us achieve great places and support community ambitions.  

4.14.6   Short Term Lets - a new policy on the loss of homes to alternative uses. 

This new policy will be used when planning permission is required for a 

change of use of residential flats and houses to short-term lets or other 

uses.    

4.14.7  Student Housing - ensure that student housing is delivered at the right scale 

and in the right locations, helps create sustainable communities and looks 

after student’s wellbeing.  

4.14.8   Support for social enterprises, culture and tourism, innovation and learning, 

and the low carbon sector where it contributes to good growth for 

Edinburgh.  

4.14.9   West Edinburgh - support the best use of existing public transport 

infrastructure in West Edinburgh and accommodate the development of a 

mix of uses to support inclusive, sustainable growth. 

4.15 Choice 12 sets out options for the overall spatial strategy for the development of the 

city up to 2030. This include potential releases of land from the Edinburgh Green 

Belt policy designation and its allocation for new housing-led urban extensions. 

4.16 In addition to the 16 main choices, a number of technical changes to planning policy 

are set out for comment. Several of the choices include map diagrams to indicate 

the spatial implication of the options being proposed.   

Consultation Activities  

4.17 The revised DPS sets out a participation statement with consultation activities. 

 

4.18 Formal responses will be made online, using the Council’s Consultation Hub. It is 

intended to provide support in local offices and/or libraries to help those who do not 

use online services to make consultation responses.  

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1 The Choices for City Plan 2030 consultation document (Appendix 1) will be   

prepared for formal publication by the start of the eight- week consultation period 

Page 13



(30 January 2020 to 22 March 2020), in terms of recommendation 2.  Advance 

notice of that amended consultation period has been given and is set out here in the 

amended Development Plan Scheme (Appendix 2). 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 The appended consultation document does not in itself have a financial impact. The 

costs of consultation activities are provided for in existing budgets. 

6.2 The consultation stage will inform the preparation of the Council’s Proposed Plan, 

and accompanying Proposed Action Programme, as set out in the above timetable.  

6.3 The current LDP’s Action Programme has potential financial impacts, for which risk 

is being managed and reported to the Finance and Resources Committee.  It is 

intended to carry out equivalent work to understand financial implications of the City 

Plan 2030 Proposed Action Programme. 

6.4 At the present stage of consulting on options, only a high level consideration of 

potential financial implications is possible. 

 

7.     Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 Early engagement which has informed the appended document is outlined above. 

7.2 The forthcoming formal consultation stages are set out in statute and focus in the 

main issues report (Choices for City Plan 2030) and Proposed Plan stages.   

7.3 The amended DPS (Appendix 2) sets out the consultation period and main activities 

for this stage of the project.   

7.4 City Plan 2030 has a key role in delivering Edinburgh’s vision and aligns with the 

Edinburgh Economy Strategy which is tailored towards delivering good growth for 

everyone.  An Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) has been carried out as an 

integral part of the plan project.  Its report is available as a supporting document at 

www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030.   

7.5 The IIA identifies potential negative impacts on business and urban communities 

resulting from providing housing land in existing urban areas.  Further choices set 

out in Choices for City Plan 2030 aim to mitigate this through provision of new 

business floorspace and re-provision on sites where business floorspace is 

redeveloped for housing and other uses and a placemaking approach.   

7.6 The assessment concludes that overall Choices for City Plan 2030 will support 

equality, health and well-being and human rights and have positive socio-economic 

impacts overall.  There is no expected negative impact.  Further IIAs will be carried 

out as the project progresses.   

7.7 The risks associated with this area of work are significant in terms of finance, 

reputation, and performance in relation to the statutory duties of the Council as 

Planning Authority and in several of its other capacities.   

Page 14

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030


7.8 Project governance arrangements include regular monitoring and management of 

identified risks.  

7.9 Detailed project governance arrangements and controls have been informed by the 

findings of an internal audit.  The recommendations of this audit were referenced in 

a report to the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee on 16 January 2018.  

7.10 There are no direct sustainability impacts arising from this report although the ability 

of the Council to manage successfully the impacts arising from the growth of the city 

through the proposed plan is critical to achieving sustainable development.   

7.11 A Strategic Environmental Assessment is being carried out as an integral part of the 

plan project. Its findings are set out in an Environmental Report, which is available 

as a supporting document at www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030. The 

Environmental Report will be the subject of its own separate statutory consultation. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 Supporting documents for the Choices for City Plan 2030 main issues report are    

available online at www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030: 

8.1.1 Monitoring Statement; 

8.1.2 Commercial Needs Study (in four parts); 

8.1.3 Housing Study; 

8.1.4 Edinburgh Strategic Sustainable Transport Study (Phase 1); 

8.1.5 Environmental Report; 

8.1.6 Integrated Impact Assessment; and 

8.1.7 Financial Resources Appraisal. 

8.2 Development Plan Scheme, report to Planning Committee, 22 August 2018. 

8.3      Local Development Plan – Elected Member Involvement, report to Housing and     

Economy Committee, 7 June 2018. 

8.4  Edinburgh Local Development Plan 2 – project Overview, 22 March 2018. 

8.5 Programme for the Capital – The City of Edinburgh Council 2017/2022, 24 August   

2017. 

8.6 SESplan Strategic Development Plan 2, Proposed Plan (October 2016), available  

at: www.sesplan.gov.uk.   

8.7 Scottish Government Circular 6/2013: Development Planning 

 

9 Appendices 

9.1     Appendix 1 – Choices for City Plan 2030. 

9.2     Appendix 2 – Development Plan Scheme.  

Page 15

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/55768/item_72_-_internal_audit_quarterly_update_report_-_quarter_2_1_july-30_september_2017
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/58218/item_91_-_development_plan_scheme
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/58218/item_91_-_development_plan_scheme
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/57320/item_72_-_local_development_plan_%E2%80%93_elected_member_involvement
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/56609/item_77_-_edinburgh_local_development_plan_2_project_overview
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/54559/item_81_-_programme_for_the_capital_-_the_city_of_edinburgh_council_business_plan_2017-22
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/54559/item_81_-_programme_for_the_capital_-_the_city_of_edinburgh_council_business_plan_2017-22
http://www.sesplan.gov.uk/
http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0044/00441577.pdf


 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Choices for 
         Preparing the next local development plan for Edinburgh 

   

P
age 16



 

2 
 

 

    Timetable  

 

 
 

‘Choices’ is the Main Issues Report for City Plan 2030. This document has been 
prepared  in  accordance with  the  Town  and Country  Planning  (Scotland)  Act 
1997,  the  approved  Strategic  Development  Plan  for  South  East  Scotland, 
Scottish Planning Policy and Circular 6/2013 Development Planning.  

A  main  issues  report  is  accompanied  by  a  Monitoring  Statement  and  an 
Environmental Report. Our main issues report is also accompanied by a Housing 
Study,  a  Commercial  Needs  Study,  a  Financial  Resources  Appraisal  and  a 
participation statement.  

 The Monitoring Statement provides the evidence base as to why we want 
to make the changes set out in Choices.  

 The  Environmental  Report  assesses  the  environmental  effects  of  the 
proposed choices.  

 The Housing Study provides the evidence base specifically for our choices 
on delivering new homes for Edinburgh.   

 The Edinburgh Strategic Sustainable Transport Study (phase 1) provides an 
assessment  of  10  strategic  transport  corridors  and  identifies  strategic 
transport actions which could support the growth set out in our proposed 
choices.  

 The Commercial Needs Study has assessed our requirements  in terms of 
offices, business, visitor accommodation, retail and leisure for the period 
2018‐2030.  

 The  Financial  Resources  Appraisal  assesses  the  impact  of  our  proposed 
choices on the Council’s budgets and resources. 

Other documents will be required to support the proposed City Plan 2030 including 
a Habitats  Regulation Appraisal  Record.  This will  assess whether  the City Plan 
2030 will have a ‘likely significant effect’ on any European site. 

Further  information  on  the  process  of  preparing  a  development  plan  is 
available on the Scottish Government’s website. 

P
age 17



 

3 
 

 

 

 

By 2030, we want Edinburgh to be… 

 
 

 

 

 

Edinburgh by 2030  
With a great quality of life, a beautiful green and historic environment, a thriving 
economy and a host of cultural attractions to enjoy, Edinburgh is one of the best 
cities in the world in which to live, work and study. 

But,  like  many  cities,  we  also  have  increasing  levels  of  poverty  and  health 
inequalities in our communities, rising housing costs, and in some areas, traffic 
congestion and poor air quality. We also need to adapt our city to meet the needs 
of an aging population, address the increasing impact of climate change on our 
city and ensure growth is sustainable. Edinburgh is committed to change.  

We have a target to be carbon neutral by 2030. We are committed to building 
20,000 affordable and low‐cost homes over the next 10 years. We have approved 
a programme to transform our City Centre and are consulting on our draft City 
Mobility  Plan,  to  radically  change  how  we  move  around  our  city.  We  are 
committed to Community Plan actions to ensure residents have enough money 
to live on, have access to work, learning and training opportunities and have a 
good place to live. 

To meet our objectives, future growth of our city must meet our ambitions to be 
a  sustainable  city  with  the  right  types  and  quality  of  new  homes  and 
neighbourhoods, in the right locations, with the right infrastructure. We need to 
support businesses and promote innovation, learning and culture.  

To do this, by 2030 we want Edinburgh to be: 

 A sustainable city which supports everyone’s physical and mental wellbeing 
 A city where you don’t need to own a car to move around  
 A city in which everyone lives in a home which they can afford, and  
 A city where everyone shares in its economic success. 

To help us achieve this we are consulting on our next local development plan – 
City Plan 2030.  

P
age 18



 

4 
 

What is a local development plan?   
A Local Development Plan (LDP) sets out policies and proposals to manage where 
development should take place. It sets out the best locations for new homes and 
businesses,  protects places of  historic  and environmental  value  and  identifies 
where new or improved facilities, such as public transport, schools and parks will 
be provided.  

The plan also contains policies used to determine applications for developments.  

 

Why are we consulting? 
Our current Edinburgh Local Development Plan was adopted in 2016.  

Local Development Plans are reviewed on a 5‐year basis. Our next plan will be 
adopted in 2021.  

When we want to make changes to a Local Development Plan, the first stage is 
to consult on these through a ‘main issues report’. Our next plan will be called 
City Plan 2030. Choices for City Plan 2030 is our main issues report.  
 

 

When we prepare a new local development plan we are not starting from 
scratch as many of the policies in our existing plan are working well. Local 
development plan policies and sites not mentioned in this document are not 
subject to consultation and most will be carried forward into City Plan 2030. 

 

 

 

 

How to use this document  
There are several changes we wish to make to our current plan and we would 
like to get your views on these. 

This document sets out the Council’s preferred approach to changing policy in 
our new plan ‐ “our proposed changes”. We must set out at least one reasonable 
alternative ‐ “instead of making these changes”.  

We’d like you to consider whether you would support our proposed changes or 
support our alternative.  Your responses to these choices will help us prepare our 
proposed plan which will be published in summer 2020.  

Responses  to  Choices  can  be  made  through  the  Council’s  consultation  hub 
between Friday 31st January and Friday 27th March. 

 

Respond to the Choices Consultation 

 

P
age 19



 

5 
 

 

The Choices for City Plan 2030 

 

A sustainable city which supports 
everyone’s physical and mental wellbeing 
1. Making Edinburgh a sustainable, active and connected city 
2. Improving the quality, density and accessibility of development 
3. Delivering carbon neutral buildings  
4. Creating Place Briefs and supporting the use of Local Place Plans in our 

communities 
 

A city in which everyone lives in a home which 
they can afford  
9. Protecting against the loss of Edinburgh’s homes to other uses  
10. Creating sustainable communities  
11. Delivering more affordable homes  
12. Building our new homes and infrastructure  

A city where you don’t need to own a car to 
move around   
5. Delivering community infrastructure  
6. Creating places that focus on people not cars  
7. Supporting the reduction in car use in Edinburgh 
8. Delivering new walking and cycle routes 

 

 

A city where everyone shares in its economic 
success 

13. Supporting inclusive growth, innovation, universities, & culture  
14. Delivering West Edinburgh  
15. Protecting our city centre, town and local centres 
16. Delivering office, business and industry floorspace 

 

P
age 20



 

6 
 

 
 
 
We want Edinburgh to be a sustainable and healthy city. Edinburgh needs to be 
resilient, adaptable and address the  impacts of climate change, contributing to 
the delivery of a  carbon neutral  city by 2030. We want Edinburgh  to be a  city 
which supports everyone’s physical and mental wellbeing.  
 
To do this we want to create a network of greenspaces that protects our beautiful 
green  setting  and  helps  people  make  sustainable  travel  choices.  We  want  to 
create new places that are of the highest quality and ensure that development in 
our city enhances and contribute to our existing communities.  
 
To meet our climate change ambitions, we also want all buildings through their 
design and the use of low and zero‐carbon generating technologies to be carbon 
neutral.  
 
To  achieve  these  aims we want  to  consider  the  following  choices  to  deliver  a 
sustainable city:  
 
 Choice 1 ‐ Making Edinburgh a sustainable, active and connected city 
 Choice 2 ‐ Improving the quality, density and accessibility of development 
 Choice 3 ‐ Delivering carbon neutral buildings 
 Choice 4 ‐ Creating Place Briefs and supporting the use of Local Place Plans in 

our communities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A sustainable city which supports everyone’s physical and mental wellbeing 

P
age 21



 

7 
 

Choice 1 – Making Edinburgh a sustainable, 
active and connected city 
 
City Plan 2030 needs  to ensure Edinburgh  is as  sustainable as possible  to help 
meet our ambitious climate change objective to be a carbon neutral city by 2030. 
Our city must address the impacts of climate change whilst providing people with 
a great place to live. To do this we think the green and blue environment should 
be a fundamental element of all development in Edinburgh. We want to change 
our policies to reflect this.  

 

Our proposed changes: 
A. We want to create a new policy which will help connect our places, parks and 

greenspaces together as part of a multi‐functional, local, city‐wide, regional, 
and national green network. 

 
We  want  to  develop  and  maintain  a  city‐wide  network  of  high  quality  and 
beautiful multi‐use green spaces to increase our health and wellbeing, encourage 
more walking, cycling and sport, address climate change, have a positive impact 
on  biodiversity  and  air  quality,  manage  the  water  environment  and  create 
opportunities for food growing. New development will need to ensure it connects 
to and delivers this network,  including connections to the wider regional green 
network.  

 
B. We want all development (including change of use) to include green and blue 

infrastructure. Where appropriate this should include trees, living roofs, and 
nature‐based drainage solutions  including, ponds, swales,  rain gardens and 
ecosystem  services  as  well  as  making  best  use  of  natural  features  in  the 
surrounding environment.  

 

 
C. We want City Plan 2030 to identify areas that can be used for future water 

management within a green / blue corridor to enable adaptation to climate 
change.  
 

D. We want  City  Plan  2030  to  clearly  set  out  under  what  circumstances  the 
development  of  poor  quality  or  underused  open  space will  be  considered 
acceptable.  

 
E. We  want  to  introduce  a  new  ‘extra‐large  green  space  standard’  which 

recognises  the  need  for  new  communities  to  have  access  to  green  spaces 
more than 5 hectares, as well as smaller greenspaces. A 5‐hectare green space 
is the equivalent of The Meadows or Saughton Park. At present our policies 
require new development areas to provide a park of 3 hectares. We want to 
increase this requirement.  

 
F. We want City Plan 2030 to identify specific sites for new allotments and food 

growing, both as part of new development sites and within open space in the 
urban area.  

 
G. We want City Plan 2030 to identify space for additional cemetery provision, 

including the potential for green and woodland burials.   
 

H. We want to revise our existing policies and greenspace designations to ensure 
that  as  part  of  planning  consents  new  green  spaces  have  long  term 
maintenance and management arrangements  in place. The Council  favours 
factoring  on  behalf  of  the  private  landowner(s)  but will  consider  adoption 
should sufficient maintenance resources be made available. 

 
 

P
age 22



 

8 
 

Instead of making these changes:  
 
I. We could maintain our current policies on Climate Adaption and Greenspaces 

which require developments to deliver green infrastructure and open space. 
However, we do not consider these policies to be strong enough to deliver 
the kind of change we want to make to Edinburgh’s environment.  
 

J. We could not implement a new 5‐hectare standard.  
 

 

Local Development Plan Policies under revision:  
Design policies including Climate Adaption and Development Design (Policy Des 6 
and Des 3) 
Open Space Protection (Env 18)  
Protection of Outdoor Sports Facilities (Env 19) 
Open Space in New Development (Env 20)  
Environment Policies Env 12 to 16 and 21 and 22 

 
   

P
age 23



 

9 
 

 
 

 
 

   

  
Map 1 – A connected, green Edinburgh 

 

P
age 24



 

10 
 

Choice 2 – Improving the quality, density and 
accessibility of development 
 
Development in Edinburgh must create great new places and contribute to our 
existing communities. Our design policies are generally strong and are largely fit 
for  purpose,  however  we  recognise  that  we  don’t  always  achieve  the  best 
outcomes  for  our  city. We  want  to  ensure  a  consistent  approach  to  how  we 
determine applications  for new buildings and places and revise our policies on 
accessibility,  connectivity  including on how sites are  laid out, public  realm and 
open space and water management.   
 

Our proposed changes:  
A. We want all  development  (including  change of use),  through a design and 

access statement, to demonstrate how their design will incorporate measures 
to tackle and adapt to climate change, their future adaptability and measures 
to address accessibility for people with varying needs, age and mobility issues 
as a key part of their layouts.  

 
B. We want to revise our policies on density. This is to ensure that we make best 

use of the limited space in our city and that sites are not under‐developed.  
 
 Across  the  city,  on  both  urban  area  and  greenfield  sites,  housing 

development must achieve a minimum of 65 dwellings per hectare.  
 Where identified in the plan, higher density housing development with a 

minimum of 100 dwellings per hectare will be required.  
 A vertical mix of uses to support the efficient use of land. 

 
This  is  to  provide  for  and  to  maximise  the  benefits  of  being  close  to  public 
transport services and along high‐quality active travel routes, provided that the 

design of such developments is of a high quality, respects amenity, and is of an 
appropriate character.  

 
Map 2 ‐ Edinburgh’s urban density  

 
 

C. We want to revise our design and layout policies to achieve better layouts for 
active travel and connectivity.  To do this we want to ensure that the places, 
streets and road layouts we create in development reflects our Street Design 
Guidance and the six qualities of successful places in Scottish Planning Policy 
in  that  they  are  safe  and  pleasant,  easy  to move  around,  are  welcoming; 
adaptable, and are resource efficient.  

 
D. We want all development, including student housing, to deliver quality open 

space  and  public  realm,  useable  for  a  range  of  activities,  including  drying 
space, whilst allowing for higher densities.  

 

P
age 25



 

11 
 

Instead of making this change:  
 
E. We could continue using our existing policy on housing density which seeks 

an appropriate density based on the characteristics of the surrounding area, 
not based on maximising the benefits of achieving higher densities and being 
close to high quality public transport services.  
 

F. We could continue to use our existing policies on development quality, site 
layouts, public realm and landscape, and on open spaces and private spaces. 
However, we do not consider these policies to be strong enough to deliver 
changes we want to make to the creation of new places in Edinburgh.  

 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision:  
Design Quality and Context (Des 1)  
Development Design (Des 3)  
Sustainable Buildings (Des 6) 
Housing Density (Hou 4)  
Layout Design (Des 7)  
Public Realm and Landscape (Des 8)  
Open Space in New Development (Env 20) 

 
 

 
 
 

   

P
age 26



 

12 
 

Choice 3 ‐ Delivering carbon neutral buildings 
 
All buildings in Edinburgh must reduce their carbon emissions both through their 
design and use of low and zero‐carbon generating technologies. To help deliver 
the  Council’s  target  to  be  carbon  neutral  by  2030  we  think  all  buildings  in 
Edinburgh should be zero‐carbon. We will do this through revising our policy on 
sustainable buildings. 
 

Our proposed change 
A. We want to require all buildings and conversions to meet the zero carbon / 

platinum standards as set out in the current Scottish Building Regulations.  We 
will continue to require at least 50% of the carbon reduction target to be met 
through low and zero‐carbon generating technologies.  

 
Instead of making this change 
 
B. We  could  continue  to  use  our  current  sustainable  buildings  policy  (Des  6) 

which  requires  buildings  and  conversions  to  meet  the  Scottish  Building 
Regulations bronze standard.  

 
or, 
 

C. We could require all buildings and conversions to meet the silver standards 
as set out in the current Scottish Building Regulations. 

 
or,  

 
D. We could require all buildings and conversions to meet the gold standards as 

set out in the current Scottish Building Regulations. 
 

 
We will also continue to require at least 50% of the carbon reduction target to be 
met through low and zero‐carbon generating technologies in respect of B, C and 
D.  
 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision:  
Sustainable Buildings (Des 6)  

 
 

   

P
age 27



 

13 
 

Choice 4 ‐ Creating Place Briefs and supporting 
the use of Local Place Plans in our communities 
 
Place Briefs are a tool which we can use to help us achieve the best outcomes for 
our city. 

Working with  local communities we will develop Place Briefs  to direct how we 
want development to look and feel, and how development will help deliver the 
infrastructure required to support them. We want City Plan to use Place Briefs for 
all our new housing sites.  

Local Place Plans aim to make planning more collaborative and  inclusive. Local 
Place  Plans  are  prepared  by  local  communities  and  set  proposals  for  the 
development or use of land. Local Place Plans may also identify land and buildings 
that the community body considers to be of particular significance to the  local 
area. 

The use of Local Place Plans will formally be implemented in the future through 
the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019 – this is likely to be part of the next round of local 
development plans. However, we want City Plan 2030 to consider how we support 
the creation of Local Place Plans by our communities at this stage, specifically in 
how we prepare our Place Briefs.  

Our proposed changes: 
A. We want to work with local communities to prepare Place Briefs for areas and 

sites within City Plan 2030 highlighting  the key elements of design,  layout, 
open space, biodiversity net gain and community infrastructure development 
should deliver.   
 

B. We want to support Local Place Plans being prepared by our communities. 
City Plan 2030 will set out how Place Plans can help us achieve great places 
and support community ambitions.  

 

 
 
Instead of making this change: 
 
C. We  could  continue  to  use  our  current  local  development  plan  policies  on 

design to guide our development. However, we do not consider these policies 
to be strong enough alone to deliver the kind of changes we want to make to 
the creation of new places in Edinburgh.  
 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision:  
Co‐ordinated Development (Des 2)  

Design policies  

   

P
age 28



 

14 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
One of the aims of City Plan 2030 will be to realise the lifelong health benefits of 
walking and cycling by creating streets and public spaces for people over cars and 
improving and expanding sustainable public transport.  
 
To do this, City Plan 2030 will plan for a city in which you don’t need to own a car 
to move around. City Plan 2030 will provide for new homes, jobs and amenities 
and services in accessible neighbourhood locations with good access to walking 
and  cycling  routes  and  to  public  transport.  We  also  want  to  reduce  carbon 
emissions and we are committed to the reduction of traffic borne air pollution,  
 
We also need to plan for the movement of goods entering and moving across our 
city in a way that does not contribute to congestion or negatively impacts on air 
quality.  Providing  space  for  freight  and  distribution  hubs  to  locate  within  our 
designated business and industrial land forms part of our strategy in Choice 16.  
 
The choices we make for City Plan 2030 will align with those of the City Mobility 
Plan to help balance quality of life with access to jobs and services for all residents 
and workers in the city.  To achieve these aims we want to consider the following 
choices: 
 
 Choice 5 – Delivering community infrastructure  
 Choice 6 – Creating places that focus on people not cars  
 Choice 7 – Supporting the reduction in car use in Edinburgh 
 Choice 8 – Delivering new walking and cycle routes 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

A city where you don’t need to own a car to move around   

P
age 29



 

15 
 

Choice 5 – Delivering Community Infrastructure  
 
Our homes and businesses need investment in our community infrastructure. We 
need schools, healthcare facilities, and access to public transport and active travel 
options. 

To do this we want City Plan 2030 to direct development to where there is existing 
infrastructure, or where new infrastructure will be accommodated, encouraging 
improvements and investment in the services on offer.   

Where new infrastructure capacity will need to be provided, we want City Plan 
2030 and its Action Programme to set out how and when the infrastructure will 
be delivered. 

Education Infrastructure  
The  Council  has  carried  out  a  high‐level  assessment  of  the  new  school 
infrastructure which is likely to be required to support the housing need identified 
for City Plan. This assessment can be found in the Housing Study. 

A full education infrastructure appraisal and strategy will support City Plan 2030.   

In summary,  

Urban Area Sites (Choice 12 ‐ Option A)  

In respect of the within the Urban Area sites set out on Map 12, the following 
school infrastructure is likely to be required, not limited to:  

Non‐denominational primary schools  

Areas that could require a new primary school:  

‐ North Edinburgh: Trinity, Broughton, Stockbridge, Flora Stevenson, Leith and 
Craigentinny do not have capacity to support the significant pupil growth that 
could come from potential urban housing sites within their catchment areas. 
Two new primary schools could be required.  

‐ West  Edinburgh:  A  new  primary  school  will  be  required  to  accommodate 
significant  pupil  growth  from  any  new  housing  development  around  the 
airport.  

‐ Redford  Barracks:  Proposed  redevelopment  of  Redford  Barracks  could 
require a new primary school.  

‐ Classroom extensions will have to be delivered at Balgreen and Castleview 
primary schools. 

‐ Catchment change will also be considered Bruntsfield,  Liberton, Roseburn, 
Sciennes and Niddrie Mill primary schools. 

Non‐denominational Secondary Schools 

Areas that could require a new secondary school: 

‐ North Edinburgh: Broughton High, Drummond High and Leith Academy do 
not  have  capacity  to  support  the  significant pupil  growth  that  could  come 
from  potential  urban  housing  sites  within  their  catchment  areas.  A  new 
secondary school  in the area would provide the additional accommodation 
that would be required. 

‐ West Edinburgh: A new secondary school  is required to accommodate any 
pupil growth from any new housing development around the airport. 

‐ Redford  Barracks:  There  is  no  spare  capacity  at  Firrhill  High  School  to 
accommodate pupil growth from new housing development.  

Greenfield Sites (Choice 12 – Option B) 

South East Edinburgh  
‐ New non‐denominational primary schools – 6 
‐ New non‐denominational secondary Schools – 2 

NOTE: This provides an opportunity to deliver an ‘all‐through’ school combining 
primary and secondary schooling in on location. 

West Edinburgh (Norton Park, IBG and Crosswinds) 

‐ New non‐denominational primary schools – 3 

P
age 30



 

16 
 

‐ New non‐denominational secondary Schools ‐ 1 

A requirement for additional secondary school capacity in West Edinburgh has 
already been identified in the Council’s current Action Programme. 

East of Riccarton 

‐ New non‐denominational primary schools – 3 
‐ New non‐denominational secondary Schools ‐ 1 

The allocation of this site for housing would give the Council an opportunity to 
increase  the  catchment  area  of Wester  Hailes  Education  Centre  which  would 
increase  the  school  roll  considerably,  improve  learning  opportunities  and 
curriculum  choice.  Financial  contributions  from  developers  would  enable  the 
delivery of a new Wester Hailes Education Centre with an increased capacity. 

Kirkliston 

‐ New non‐denominational primary schools – 1 
‐ New non‐denominational secondary Schools ‐ 1 

Substantial new housing development in South Queensferry means that 
Queensferry High School will not have the capacity to continue to accommodate 
pupils from Kirkliston Primary School.  The Council is currently considering 
whether Kirkliston should have its own secondary school or whether alternative 
secondary school provision will have to be provided elsewhere.  There is no site 
identified for a new secondary school and there is currently no funding in place.   

The allocation of this site, would give the Council an opportunity to secure a site 
in Kirkliston for a new secondary school as well as significant financial 
contributions from developers for its delivery. This would make the delivery of a 
new secondary school with capacity for at least 900 pupils in Kirkliston a more 
viable and deliverable option. 

East Calder  

‐ New non‐denominational primary schools – 3 
‐ New non‐denominational secondary Schools ‐ 1 

New housing in this location could link to development and new education 
infrastructure being delivered in West Lothian. 

A blended approach ‐ Option C 

If a blended approach of brownfield and is chosen, this will be supported by a 
full education appraisal and infrastructure strategy.  

 

Healthcare Infrastructure  
The  Edinburgh  Health  and  Social  Care  Partnership  will  prepare  a  Primary 
Healthcare Appraisal as part of preparing the Proposed Plan. This will ensure that 
the process of planning future health care services considers changing demands 
because of new development.  

Transport Infrastructure  
In  preparing  Choices  for  City  Plan  and  the  City Mobility  Plan,  the  Council  has 
commissioned an Edinburgh Strategic Sustainable Transport Study (Phase 1). The 
study examines 10 strategic transport corridors within, and potentially beyond, 
Edinburgh to assess whether, and how, the development of transit‐led solutions 
(including  Bus  Rapid  Transit  (BRT)  and  Tram)  could  reduce  carbon,  promote 
equity, support healthier lifestyles and deliver sustainable economic growth.  

Based on the assessment, two corridors have been identified as being suitable for 
the delivery of new transit‐solutions to help deliver City Plan 2030.  

 South East Edinburgh via BioQuarter (Corridor 3) ‐ Delivery of Tram along this 
corridor  would  support  strong  established  demand  including  major 
employment  centre  at  the  BioQuarter,  Cameron  Toll,  Craigmillar,  Shawfair 
and the potential for further transit‐led development. 

 Towards Newbridge and IBG (Corridor 7) ‐ Delivery of Tram or BRT along this 
transit  corridor  would  support  existing  major  development  along  the  A8 

P
age 31



 

17 
 

corridor  and  support  regional  level  commuting  from  settlements  in  West 
Lothian, and the potential opportunity for further transit‐led development.  

Other corridors ‐ The study supports extension of the tram line in Corridor 8 West 
of Hermiston as a potential transport corridor which, if implemented, could allow 
for future development in West Edinburgh. However, as delivery of a tram system 
would not be  feasible  in  the  timeline of City Plan 2030,  it  is  not  included as a 
preferred option for City Plan 2030. The study also supports Corridor 6 ‐ Granton 
to the city centre for a new tram line. This corridor is already safeguarded in the 
current local development plan.  

City  Plan  2030  will  identify  new  transport  infrastructure,  including  public 
transport and road infrastructure improvements that will be required to support 
the growth of the city, based on a Transport Appraisal, and actions arising from 
the City Mobility Plan. These actions will be set out in City Plan 2030’s proposed 
Action Programme.  
 
This will include:  
 Walking and cycling routes 
 Extension and realignment of bus services 
 The extension of the tram network 
 Road  infrastructure  to  accommodate  more  modes  of  transport  including 

public, walking and cycling.  
 Mobility  interchange  hubs  ‐  neighbourhood  level  hubs  where  a  range  of 

sustainable and shared transport modes are available alongside local shops 
and delivery lockers.  

 

Our proposed changes: 
 

A. We want City Plan 2030  to direct development  to where  there  is  existing 
infrastructure  capacity,  including  education,  healthcare  and  sustainable 

transport,  or  where  potential  new  infrastructure  will  be  accommodated 
(deliverable  within  the  plan  period),  encouraging  improvements  and 
investment in the services on offer.   

 
B. We  want  City  Plan  2030  to  set  out  where  new  community  facilities  are 

needed, and that these must be well connected to active travel routes and in 
locations with high accessibility to good sustainable public transport services.     

 
C. We want to reflect the desire to co‐locate our community services close to 

the  communities  they  serve,  supporting  a  high  walk‐in  population  and 
reducing the need to travel.  

 
D. We  want  to  set  out  where  development  will  be  expected  to  contribute 

toward  new  or  expanded  community  infrastructure.  We  want  to  use  of 
cumulative contribution zones to determine infrastructure actions, costs and 
delivery mechanisms. 

 
E. We want  to  stop using  supplementary  guidance  and  set  out  guidance  for 

developer  contributions  within  the  plan,  Action  Programme  and  in  non‐
statutory guidance.    

 
Instead of making this change: 
 
F. We could continue to use our existing policies on community infrastructure 

and  developer  contributions  and  finalised  Supplementary  Guidance  on 
Developer Contributions. However, we do not consider these policies to be 
strong enough to deliver changes we want to make to the delivery of new 
infrastructure in Edinburgh. 

 

P
age 32



 

18 
 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision:  
Developer Contributions and Infrastructure Delivery (Del 1)  
Community Facilities (Hou 10)  
Supplementary Guidance on Developer Contributions 
Public Transport Proposals and Safeguards (Tra 7) 
Provision of Transport Infrastructure (Tra 8)  
New and Existing Roads (Tra 10)  

P
age 33



 

19 
    

 
Map 3 – Edinburgh Strategic Sustainable Transport Study – proposed corridors  

P
age 34



 

20 
 

Choice 6 ‐ Creating places that focus on people, 
not cars  
 
We want City Plan 2030 to ensure we create places that focus on people not cars 
and  prioritise  public  transport,  walking  and  cycling  to  encourage  active  and 
healthy  lives.  To  do  this,  all  development  must  be  well  served  by  existing  or 
planned new public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure.  

 

Our proposed changes: 
A. We want to create a new policy that assesses development against its ability 

to meet our targets for public transport usage and walking and cycling. These 
targets will vary according to the current or planned public transport services 
and high‐quality active travel routes. 
 

B. We want to use Place Briefs to set the targets for trips by walking, cycling and 
public transport based on current and planned transit interventions. This will 
determine appropriate parking levels to support high use of public transport.   
 

Instead of making this change:  
C. We could continue to use our policy on the location of major travel generating 

development  which  currently  only  applies  to  offices,  retail  and  leisure 
developments not housing.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision:  
Location of Major Travel Generating Development (Tra 1)  

 
 
   

P
age 35



 

21 
 

Choice 7 ‐ Supporting the reduction in car use in 
Edinburgh 
 
Where  there are good public  transport options, an environment  that  supports 
walking  and  cycling,  and  access  to  car  club  vehicles,  or  other  shared mobility 
scheme,  there  is  less  need  to  own  a  car. We want  City  Plan  2030  to  have  no 
minimum  standards  for  car  parking  –  potentially  leading  to  car‐free 
developments. 

Our proposed changes: 
A. We want  to determine parking  levels  in development based on  targets  for 

trips by walking, cycling and public transport.  These targets could be set by 
area, development type, or both and will be supported by other measures to 
control on‐street parking.  
 

B. We want to protect against the development of additional car parking in the 
city centre to support the delivery of the Council’s city centre transformation 
programme. 

 
C. We want to update our parking policies to control demand and to support 

parking  for  bikes,  those  with  disabilities  and  electric  vehicles  via  charging 
infrastructure.  

 
D. We want to support  the city’s park and ride  infrastructure by safeguarding 

sites  for  new  park  and  ride  at  Gilmerton  Road  and  Lasswade  Road  and 
extensions to the current sites at Hermiston and Newcraighall. There is also 
the potential to safeguard an extension to the park and ride at Ingliston as 
part of the International Business Gateway masterplan. Policies on Park and 
Rides will be amended to reference these sites and any other sites that are 
identified in the City Mobility Plan or its action plan.  
 

 

Instead of making this change:  
 

E. We could continue to use our current policies on car and cycle parking which 
set minimum standards for car parking. 

 
F. We could continue to use our policy on Park and Ride sites  

 

Map 4 ‐ Park & Ride Sites  

 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) policies under revision: Private 
Car Parking (Tra 2) Private Cycle Parking (Tra 3) Design of Off‐street Car and 
Cycle parking (Tra 4) Park and Ride  (Tra 6) 

P
age 36



 

22 
 

Choice 8 ‐ Delivering new walking and cycling 
routes  
Delivering  strategic  walking  and  cycling  routes  across  the  city  will  be  key  to 
delivering both our aim of not needing a car to move around the city and our aim 
of Edinburgh being a green, connected city.  

Our proposed changes: 
A. We want to update our policy on the Cycle and Footpath Network to provide 

criteria for identifying new routes. This could include, but not be limited to, 
the following: 
  
 New  cross‐boundary  routes  that  connect  growth  areas  with  strategic 

employment areas;  
 Local walking and cycling links around the city;  
 Connections between park and ride; and,  
 Public transport interchanges and the network of town and local centres 

and new development.   
 

B. As  part  of  the  City  Centre  Transformation  and  other  Council  and  partner 
projects  to  improve  strategic walking  and  cycling  links around  the  city, we 
want to add the following routes (along with our existing safeguards) to our 
network as active travel proposals for the new plan to assist in delivering:   
 
 Completion of the River Almond Walkway  
 The A71 cycle super highway linking south Livingston with West 

Edinburgh.  
 Edinburgh Waterfront Promenade  (realigned – Granton Beach  through 

Granton  Waterfront  and  Western  Harbour  to  Ocean  Terminal;  Ocean 
Terminal to Leith Links avoiding operational port estate) 

 The Pentlands to Portobello link  

 Meadows to George Street  
 City Centre East‐West Link 
 Waverley Valley bridge link  
 Lothian Road  
 West Edinburgh Link 
 Roseburn – Union Canal 
 Lochend – Powderhall 
 West Approach cycle link 
 Pilrig Park ‐ Pirrie Street 
 Link to Morevundale Road  

 

C. We want City Plan 2030 to also safeguard and add any other strategic active 
travel links within any of the proposed options for allocated sites and/or that 
may be  identified  in the forthcoming City Plan 2030 Transport Appraisal or 
the City Mobility Plan.  

 

Instead of making this change: 
 
D. We  could  continue  to  use  our  existing  policy  on  the  cycle  and  footpath 

network which only states that planning permission will not be granted for 
development  that  prevents  the  implementation  of  the  proposed  cycle 
network, rather than ensuring that development delivers it.  

 
Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) Policies under 
revision: Cycle and Footpath Network (Tra 9)  

 
 

 

P
age 37



 

23 
 

   

      
    Map 5 – Potential Walking and Cycling Routes 

P
age 38



 

24 
 

 

 

 

Edinburgh  is  a  successful  city  in which  people  to want  to  live, work  and  visit. 
However, Edinburgh is also a growing city with increasing inequalities within our 
communities,  an  aging  population  and  entrenched  areas  of  poverty  and 
disadvantage. 

We need more homes, particularly affordable homes and we need to support a 
fairer  society  through  significant  investment  in  our  schools,  public  transport 
system and healthcare facilities. 

We also need  to  carefully  balance  the quality of  life of  our  residents with  the 
demands of  visitors  to  the city and  reduce  the amount of homes being  lost  to 
other  uses  and  we  need  to  ensure  development  helps  create  sustainable 
communities.  

To achieve these aims we want to consider the following choices to deliver new 
homes which everyone can afford.  
 
 Choice 9 ‐ Protecting against the loss of Edinburgh’s homes to other uses  
 Choice 10 ‐ Creating sustainable communities 
 Choice 11 ‐ Delivering more affordable homes  
 Choice 12 – Building our new homes and infrastructure  

 

 

 

 

 

 
   

A city in which everyone lives in a home which they can afford 

P
age 39



 

25 
 

Choice 9 – Protecting against the loss of 
Edinburgh’s homes to other uses  
Edinburgh  is  a  vibrant  city,  world‐renowned  for  its  quality  of  life,  historic 
environment and year‐round cultural events and festivals.  It  is a great place to 
live, work and visit.  

However, we recognise that an uncontrolled approach to short‐stay commercial 
visitor accommodation (short term lets) within Edinburgh is having an impact on 
the  quality  of  life  for  our  residents  and  is  resulting  in  a  significant  loss  of  our 
homes.  

We  want  to  change  our  planning  policy  to  help  balance  the  needs  of  both 
residents and visitors and strengthen our existing communities by reducing the 
loss of housing.  

Our proposed change: 
A. We want  to  consult  on designating  Edinburgh,  or  parts  of  Edinburgh,  as  a 

‘Short  Term  Let  Control  Area’  where  planning  permission  will  always  be 
required for the change of use of whole properties for short‐term lets. 

The Scottish Government has recognised that very high concentrations of whole 
property short term lets can affect the availability of residential housing and the 
character of a neighbourhood and that some types of building are not well suited 
to this intensive use. Statutory instruments to allow the designation of ‘short term 
let  control  areas’  will  come  into  force  in  spring  2021.  We  want  to  consider 
whether  a  short  term  let  control  area  under  this  or  other  legislation  brought 
forward is appropriate for Edinburgh.  

Home sharing (renting a room in your own home or allowing others to stay in your 
own home whilst on holiday) will not be affected by this control area.  

 
 

B. We want to create a new policy on the loss of homes to alternative uses. This 
new policy will be used when planning permission is required for a change of 
use  of  residential  flats  and  houses  to  short‐stay  commercial  visitor 
accommodation or other uses.  

The policy will set out criteria to help determine when a) material change of use 
from residential to short‐stay commercial accommodation has occurred, and b) 
when  it  will  be  acceptable.  This  new  policy  will  be  in  addition  to  our  current 
polices which prevent development which would have a detrimental effect on the 
living conditions of nearby residents.  

 
Short term lets in Edinburgh  
 
Edinburgh has experienced a steep rise in the number of properties being used 
as  short‐term  visitor  accommodation.  In  2016  there  were  6,300  properties 
registered with Airbnb. This number has risen to 14,000 in 2019. Of the 14,000 
properties registered, 8,740 are for the entire house or apartment and 5,280 
are  for a  room within  the house.   Of  the 8,740 entire properties  registered, 
3,620 are available for 90 days or more, indicating that these properties may 
no longer be being used for residential purpose. 

 
The analysis is based upon all properties registered with Airbnb.  
 

 
Instead of making this change: 
 
C. We could continue to use our current policies which prevent development 

which would  have  a  detrimental  effect  on  the  living  conditions  of  nearby 
residents.  

 

P
age 40



 

26 
 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision:  Amenity (Des 5) Alterations and Extensions (Des 12) Inappropriate 
Uses in Residential Areas (Hou 7) 

 

P
age 41



 

27 
 

  

 
Map 6 – Airbnb registered in Edinburgh (2019)  

P
age 42



 

28 
 

Choice 10 – Creating sustainable communities 
If we want to increase the number of new homes, particularly affordable homes, 
being built in Edinburgh we need to make best use of the limited space in our city 
to ensure the creation of sustainable communities.  
 
Purpose‐built  student  housing,  retail,  leisure,  hotels  and  other  commercial 
developments, are being built often at the expense of creating strong sustainable 
communities. We want sites coming forward for these uses to also deliver new 
housing.  
 
We also want to update our policy on student housing to address the amount and 
type of student housing coming forward and ensure the better use of single‐use 
out of centre retail units and commercial centres.  
 

Our proposed changes: 
A. We want to revise our policy on purpose‐built student housing. We want to 

ensure  that  student housing  is delivered at  the  right  scale and  in  the  right 
locations,  helps  create  sustainable  communities  and  looks  after  student’s 
wellbeing. We will do this by requiring: 
 
 New  purpose‐built  student  accommodation  to  located  on  a  direct 

walking,  cycling,  or  public  transport  route  to  its  intended university  or 
college. 

 To deliver market and affordable housing as part of the mix, 
 To  be  built  for,  and  managed  by,  one  of  Edinburgh’s  universities  or 

colleges and,  
 Deliver a maximum of 10% studio flats.  
 

B. We want to create a new policy framework which sets out a requirement for 
housing on all sites over a certain size coming forward for development. On 

sites  over  0.25  hectares  coming  forward  for  student  housing,  hotels  and 
short‐stay  commercial  visitor  accommodation,  and  other  commercial 
business, retail and leisure developments, at least 50% of the site should be 
provided  for housing.    The new policy would not apply  to  land  specifically 
allocated or designated within the plan for a specific use – i.e. business and 
industry  land,  safeguarded waste management  sites, minerals  sites,  single 
school sites, our town and local centres, or sites covered by our office policy.  

 
C. We want to create a new policy promoting the better use of single‐use out of 

centre retail units and commercial centres, where  their  redevelopment  for 
mixed use including housing would be supported.  

 

Instead of making this change: 
 
D. We  could  continue  to  use  our  existing  policy  on  student  accommodation 

which  sets  out  criteria  on  which  purpose‐built  student  housing  will  be 
allowed  based  on  its  location  and  concentration  only.  Other  guidance  is 
currently set out in our non‐statutory guidance on student housing.  
 

E. We could continue to use our current policies which support housing as part 
of mixed‐use development on appropriate sites  to meet housing need and 
create  strong,  sustainable  communities  and  seek  to ensure  a  co‐ordinated 
approach to development. 

 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision: Housing Development (Hou 1) Student Accommodation (Hou 8) 

 

 

 

P
age 43



 

29 
 

Choice 11 – Delivering more affordable homes 
Edinburgh  is  a  growing  city.  However,  there  are  inequalities  within  our 
communities  and  entrenched  areas  of  poverty  and  disadvantage.  We  want 
everyone in Edinburgh to be able to live in an affordable home.  

We define Affordable Housing  as  housing  that  is  for  sale  or  rent,  to meet  the 
identified needs of people who cannot afford  to buy or  rent housing generally 
available on the open market. 

The Council has committed to delivering 20,000 affordable homes in the next 10 
years.  To  help  deliver  the  target,  the  Council  and  its  partners  are  working  to 
deliver more homes.  

We currently build affordable homes in two ways:  
 
 Half through the Council’s own affordable housing programme, and,  
 Half  by  requiring market  housing  developments  to  deliver  25%  percent  of 

their sites for affordable housing. In simple terms, this means that to deliver 
one  affordable  home  through  the  affordable  housing  policy,  three market 
homes need to be built. 

 
We want to deliver our 20,000 affordable homes in the most efficient way, within 
mixed sustainable communities, whilst minimising green belt release.  To do this 
we think it is time to change our affordable housing policy.  

 

Our proposed change: 
A. We want to amend our policy to increase the provision of affordable housing 

requirement from 25% to 35%. All development, including conversions, which 
consist of 12 residential units or more must include provision for affordable 
housing amounting to 35% of the total units.  

This policy will also apply to all land coming forward for other uses (as set out in 
Choice 10) i.e. where a site is required to deliver at  least 50% housing, at  least 
35% of this housing must also be affordable.  

 

B. We want City Plan 2030 to require a mix of housing types and tenures – we 
want the plan to be prescriptive on the required mix, including the percentage 
requirement for family housing and support for the Private Rented Sector.  
 
 The affordable housing should be tenure blind and should be a 

representative mix of the housing types and sizes which make up the 
total development 

 All private and/or rented residential accommodation of more than 12 
units will be expected to make an onsite affordable housing 
contribution, and 

 Affordable housing units which will be owned or managed by a 
Registered Social Landlord through Affordable Housing Contracts must 
meet the RSL’s design guidance and Social Rented homes will be 
expected to meet Housing for Varying Needs standards. 

 
Instead of making this change: 
C. We could continue to use our current policy on affordable housing (Hou 6) 

which  requires all housing  sites  to deliver 25% affordable housing and our 
non‐statutory guidance and practise note. 

 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision: Affordable Housing (Hou 6) and Housing Mix (Hou 2)  

 
 

P
age 44



 

30 
 

Choice 12 ‐ Building our new homes and 
infrastructure  
We need to provide new homes for Edinburgh, and we need to allocate land for 
our new homes. To do this we need to: 

a. Decide how many homes to provide,  
b. Who will will deliver these homes, and   
c. Where we will deliver the homes in the most sustainable way 

The Council  has prepared a Housing  Study and a  Transport  Study  (phase 1)  in 
support of this choice.  

A. How many new homes does Edinburgh need?  
Firstly, we need to decide how many new homes Edinburgh needs to build up to 
2032.  In  City  Regions,  the  requirements  for  new  housing  are  usually  set  by  a 
Strategic Development Plan. Edinburgh’s current Strategic Development Plan is 
the South East Scotland Plan (SDP 1) approved in 2013.  

Like  local  development  plans,  Strategic  Development  Plans  are  reviewed  on  a 
regular basis to ensure they are up to date. A new Strategic Development Plan 
(SDP 2) was prepared for the Edinburgh City Region, along with an assessment of 
housing need and demand (HNDA 2), but this plan was rejected by the Scottish 
Ministers in 2019 on transport grounds.  

Since then, following approval of the new Planning (Scotland) Act 2019 there is no 
requirement  to  prepare  a  new  Strategic Development  Plan.  In  future,  housing 
needs will be set out in National Planning Framework 4, but this is not expected 
to be approved until late 2021.  

Until that time, we propose that City Plan 2030 uses the supply targets set out in 
Strategic Development Plan 1, along with the updated housing need and demand 
assessment (HNDA2) prepared for the SDP 2 to determine how many homes to 
provide to 2032.  

SDP1  provides  an  ‘all  tenure’  target  which  combines  demand  for  market  and 
affordable homes across south east Scotland. This target sets out housing demand 
to 2032 but does not provide a breakdown by local authority beyond 2024.   

Therefore, it is proposed that Edinburgh’s target is set using the updated housing 
need and demand assessment (HNDA2) prepared for the SDP2 to determine how 
much of the remaining regional housing supply target from SDP1 should be met 
within Edinburgh. 

We have already committed to delivering 20,000 affordable homes to 2027.  

Our housing need is therefore set out below:   

Edinburgh’s housing target 2019 to 2032 

* Affordable housing delivery will continue to be delivered beyond 2027. 

 
   

Market Housing   
(SDP1 + HNDA 2) 

Affordable Housing 
(Council commitment to 2027) 

22,600  20,800* 

P
age 45



 

31 
 

B. Who will deliver these homes? 
 
We need land on which to build our new homes, but how much land we need 
depends on who delivers it. As part of our Housing Study we have assessed how 
much  land  we  have  in  Edinburgh  which  is  suitable  for  housing  led mixed‐use 
development.   
 
We currently have  land  for 30,164 homes,  this  is with planning permission, or 
allocated in our current plan.  We have also assessed all the other land within the 
urban area, and our Housing Study shows that we have land for approximately 
16,900 more new homes. 

 
Edinburgh’s potential housing land (2019) 
Land identified in housing land audit for affordable housing  6,100 

Land identified in housing land audit for market housing  14,800 

Other land in housing land audit (without consent)  9,200 

Potential urban area land identified through Housing Study  16,900  

Total potential land available for housing  47,000 

 
In simple terms, it  looks like we have enough land with consent and within the 
urban area to deliver our new homes without releasing new greenfield land.  
 
However:  
 Some  of  this  land  already  has  consent  to  deliver  market  housing,  not 

affordable housing, and where affordable housing is being delivered it  is at 
25%, not 35%.  

 We cannot revisit permissions to get more affordable homes out of this land, 
nor can we retrospectively apply our new higher policy requirement.  

 Most of  the  275 hectares of  urban area  land with potential  for mixed‐use 
development is in other uses, including small business uses, at present.  

 We want to create mixed, balanced sustainable communities and to build our 
20,800 affordable homes and 22,600 market homes on a range of mixed use, 
mixed tenure sites across the city.  

 
Therefore, to reach our targets we need more land than we have. We can either 
find the land we need ourselves, or, we can allocate much more market housing 
to deliver the affordable housing for us.  The land required to do this by the two 
approaches is set out in Table 1 and Table 2.  

 
Table 1 ‐ Delivery by the Council and its partners 

Market Affordable Total
Consented 

and new AHP
Other 

delivery
Housing Supply Target 22,600 20,800 43,400 10,300 10,500
Annual Completion rate 1,740 1,600 3,340

Current land suply 30,164
Effective 22,696
Constrained 7,468

Additional land to find 
(assumes 10% flexibility) 17,600

Affordable Housing Delivery

 
 

Table 2 ‐ Delivery through market housing  

Market Affordable Total
Consented 

and new AHP
Other 

delivery
Housing Supply Target 32,000 20,800 52,800 15,300 5,500
Annual Completion rate 2,460 1,600 4,060

Current land suply 30,164
Effective 22,696
Constrained 7,468

Additional land to find 
(assumes 10% flexibility) 27,900

Affordable Housing Delivery

 
Table  2  shows  that  to  deliver  the  land  via  the market,  to  build  one  affordable  home, 
roughly two market homes need to be built. 

P
age 46



 

32 
 

C . How to deliver our new homes in the most sustainable way 
We now have a choice about how and where we deliver these new homes. We have three options.  
As set out below, our preferred option is Option 1.    

 
Option 1  

Delivery by the Council and its partners 
within the Urban Area 

 

 
Option 2 

Delivery through market housing by 
releasing Greenfield land 

 
Option 3 

A Blended Approach 
 

 
17,600 units within the urban area 

 
We will rapidly intervene to deliver urban area, Council 

and partner’s land for housing or mixed use 
development 

 
Will require new and significant changes to existing  
infrastructure – schools, healthcare and transport 

 
We will work with public sector partners to deliver this 

approach 
 

We will need to intervene to deliver 275 hectares of 
employment land as part of mixed‐use redevelopment 

of sites and elsewhere 
 

This approach may require a significant CPO 
programme to ensure land comes forward 

 
 

 
27,900 units on greenfield land 

 
We will identify a large planned green belt release  

 
Will require a significant new infrastructure – 

schools, healthcare and transport 
 
 

Urban area land will come forward without 
intervention 

 
We will manage loss of employment land through 

other policy changes in Choice 15. 
 

 
A mix of the urban area land (approx. 11,000 units) 

and greenfield land (approx. 6,600 units) 
 

We will increase urban area delivery and identify 
some planned green belt release 

 
Will require a significant new infrastructure – 

schools, healthcare and transport 
 

We will Intervene to deliver significant housing in 
urban area 

 
This may require a CPO programme to ensure land 

comes forward 
 

We will need to deliver employment locations 
elsewhere and as part of mixed‐use redevelopment 
of sites through other policy changes in Choice 15. 

 

P
age 47



 

33 
 

Our proposed change: 

A. We want our new homes to be delivered by the Council 
and its partners within the Urban Area.  

We want City Plan to avoid the unnecessary use of greenfield land and build our 
new communities on brownfield land, at a better density, reducing the need to 
travel,  supported  by  active  and  public  transport.  Our  proposed  approach 
minimises the amount of new homes we need to build to reach our affordable 
housing target, with no green belt release.  

However, it must be recognised that this approach may not be financially viable 
for the Council and its partners to deliver or, possible for the Council to achieve 
an annual delivery rate to prevent the release of further green belt land. This is 
because:  

 This approach will require a significant step change in the delivery of urban 
land in Edinburgh. The proposed approach will require joint ventures with our 
partners and commercially, with the option of compulsory purchase where 
required, to deliver on 275 hectares of current employment land for housing 
led mixed use development.  

 An  urban  area  approach  would  require  new,  and  significant  changes  to 
existing infrastructure ‐ schools, healthcare and transport, including at least 
four  new  primary  schools,  primary  school  extensions  and  two  new  high 
schools. Catchment changes will also be considered in areas where there is 
insufficient  spare  capacity  at  a  school  to  accommodate  pupils  from  new 
housing development.  

 Delivery will need to start immediately (in 2020) to enable the Council and its 
partners to deliver 17,600 units with an annual delivery rate of 3,340 units 
per year to prevent the release of market‐led green belt land.  

 Of  the  275  hectares  of  the  potential  urban  land  sites,  only  11  hectares  is 
vacant  land ready  for development, 30 hectares has planning consent  (but 

with a lower % of affordable housing) and the remainder is currently in use as 
employment land, which includes land for small businesses and land owned 
by the MOD, Police, and NHS Lothian.  

 The Council will need to provide business land as part of urban area mixed use 
sites  and elsewhere,  and work with existing users  to  find new premises, or 
provide new premises as part of the redevelopment. 

 
Instead of making this change: 
 
B. We could use a greenfield approach – instead we could release enough from 

the Green Belt and identify the supporting infrastructure to meet the market 
and affordable housing targets, as a market‐developer led approach.  

 
We  could  let  market  housing  deliver  the  new  affordable  homes  we  need. 
However, it must be recognised that an approach which uses market housing to 
deliver affordable housing will require new greenfield land for 27,900 units.  This 
is because through a market approach, building one affordable home, requires 
roughly two market homes to be built. 
 
However, it must be recognised that:  

 Business  as  usual  greenfield  release  is  simply  not  an  option  to  meet  our 
overarching climate change commitment.  

 A greenfield approach would require significant new infrastructure – schools, 
healthcare and transport to deliver it, including 13 new primary schools and 
5 high schools, including a new high school for Kirkliston and Wester Hailes. 
Catchment changes will also be considered in areas where there is insufficient 
spare  capacity  at  a  school  to  accommodate  pupils  from  new  housing 
development.  

 There is also a significant risk in using a market housing/greenfield approach 
as it would require a delivery rate of 4,600 homes a year, far higher than the 

P
age 48



 

34 
 

2,500 a  year we  recently been achieving  in Edinburgh.  This  could  result  in 
further unplanned market greenfield release to ensure that new homes come 
forward.   

 Our latest assessment of housing need and demand (HNDA2) indicates that 
there is not sufficient market demand to deliver this level of housing. 
 

C. We  could  use  a  Blended  Approach  –  in  which  we  intervene  to  deliver 
significantly more housing in the existing urban area, as set out in option 1 
and release some land from the green belt where it can be supported by the 
Environmental Report, and with viable new infrastructure required to support 
it.  

The Council and its partners will still need to rapidly intervene to bring forward 
the delivery of urban area land for housing. This will still require us working with 
our  partners,  and where  essential,  use  a  compulsory  purchase  programme  to 
deliver land for housing.  

Delivery will still need to start as soon as possible to enable the Council to ensure 
an annual delivery rate of 3340 units per year to prevent the release of further 
green belt land. 

Brownfield and other urban area land currently comes forward for development 
at around 850 units per year. Therefore, we can assume there would be delivery 
of 11,000 units on urban area land over the next 13 years (2019‐2032). To meet 
the  17,600  target  we  would  need  to  supplement  this  through  the  release  of 
greenfield land for around 6,600 units.  

 

 

   

P
age 49



 

35 
 

Options for housing sites   
 
The Council has carried out a detailed site assessment of all the sites (brownfield 
/ urban area and greenfield sites) with potential to deliver our new homes.  
 
We have assessed all the sites in terms of their public transport accessibility 
through the Edinburgh Strategic Sustainable Transport Study and completed an 
initial education infrastructure appraisal for all of the sites. This assessment is 
set out in the Housing Study and the Environmental Report.  
 
Following these assessments, the land required to deliver the three options has 
been identified.  
 
 Option 1 ‐ Delivery by the Council and its partners within the Urban Area – 

land for 17,600 units as identified on maps 7 – 12 
 Option 2 ‐ Delivery through market housing by releasing Greenfield ‐ land for 

27,900 units as identified on maps 13 – 18.  
 Option 3 – A blended approach – a sustainable mix of the urban area  land 

(approx. 11,000 units) and greenfield land (approx. 6,600 units) – from all the 
urban area and greenfield land identified on Map 19. 

 
Note ‐ Option 2 requires significantly more development and land than option 1 
because to deliver that number of affordable homes via the market, building one 
affordable home needs roughly two market homes to be built if we require 35% 
affordable housing contribution. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 50



 

36 
 

Option 1 ‐ Delivery by the Council and its partners within the 
Urban Area (Maps 7 ‐10)  

 

 
 

     

P
age 51



 

37 
 

   
 
 

 
   Map 11   

P
age 52



 

38 
 

 

 

Delivery by the Council and its partners within the Urban Area (Map 12) 

P
age 53



 

39 
 

 Map 13 – potential greenfield sites      Map 13 – Option 2 ‐ Delivery through market housing by releasing Greenfield 
 

P
age 54



 

40 
 

Potential Greenfield Sites  

Area 1 ‐South East Edinburgh  
 
If required to be allocated, development in the South East could be supported on 
some, or all of the land identified on Map 14, provided that development complies 
with the policies in City Plan, and a Place Brief, delivering the (but not limited to) 
following principles.  
 

Design and Green/Blue Infrastructure  

• Provide a well‐connected ecologically diverse landscape which enhances 
biodiversity / or provide a net gain to biodiversity  

• Provide a landscape and open space framework that addresses the 
principles of the designed landscape at the Drum and view corridors to and 
from the landscape, listed buildings and views from beyond the bypass.  

• Provide a landscape adaptable to future climate change including above 
ground water management areas, linear conveyance water features for 
surface water incorporating natural processes to replicate greenfield 
conditions for attenuation of discharge rate and volume.   

• Provide a robust green belt edge 
• Use landscape mounds to mitigate noise impacts from the bypass not noise 

attenuation fences. 
• Use analysis of the wider site context, including heritage and landscape, to 

assess development capacity and identify measures to avoid negative 
impact. 

• Use masterplan(s) to show how a site or a series of sites will be developed, 
setting the framework for efficient land use, connectivity, urban design, 
landscape/open space design, built form, infrastructure and service 
provision. 

• Support creation or expansion of integrated, mixed‐use neighbourhoods 
that combine residential, employment, commercial and community uses 

with easy access to facilities, services and good public transport 
connections.  

• Ensure built form achieves a strong sense of place that reflects the special 
visual and spatial character of the city. 

Uses  
 Provide  high‐density  residential  –  a  minimum  of  65  units  per  hectare  on 

average across all areas and at least 100 units/hectare in specified areas. 
 Include a mix of uses – community, local centre, new schools, businesses and 

industrial land. 
 

Transport Infrastructure  
 New  Bus  Rapid  Transit  /  Tram  /  Cycle  Route  to  enhance  existing  public 

transport corridor and bus link 
 Public transport to be provided through the site and to a public transport hub 

‐ tram/bus interchange 
 Provide connections through the site with a focus on sustainable transport 

modes  and  connections  to  neighbouring  developments  and  employment 
uses.  

 Any vehicular  routes  through  the site  linking Old Dalkeith Road, Gilmerton 
Road and Lasswade Road should have bus priority measures and active travel 
routes.  
 

Education Infrastructure  

 New Primary Schools – 6 
 New Secondary Schools – 2 

These potential infrastructure requirements will be updated as we prepare the 
proposed plan, as part of a full transport and education appraisal.  

Grey infrastructure 

• Underground pylons  

P
age 55



 

41 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Map 14 – Area 1 ‐South East Edinburgh  

 

P
age 56



 

42 
 

Potential Greenfield Sites  

Area 2 – West Edinburgh  
 
If required to be allocated, development in the West could be supported on the 
land identified on Map 15, provided that development complies with the policies 
in  City  Plan,  and  a  Place  Brief,  delivering  (but  not  limited  to)  the  following 
principles.  
 

Design and Green/Blue Infrastructure  
 Provide a well‐connected ecologically diverse landscape which enhances 

biodiversity / or provide a net gain to biodiversity  
 Provide a landscape and open space framework that links nearby 

settlements.  
 Provide a landscape adaptable to future climate change including above 

ground water management areas, linear conveyance water features for 
surface water incorporating natural processes to replicate greenfield 
conditions for attenuation of discharge rate and volume.   

 Protect and restore the water environment to create a clean and natural 
river corridor restored to good ecological status with sufficient space for 
extreme flood events, including allowing for the proposed diversion of the 
Gogar Burn.  

 Consider wider impacts on River Basin management in relation to points 
above.   

 Provide a robust green belt edge. 
 Use landscape mounds to mitigate noise impacts from the A8/Glasgow Road 

not noise attenuation fences. 
 Use analysis of the wider site context, including heritage and landscape, to 

assess development capacity and identify measures to avoid negative 
impact. 

 Use masterplan(s) to show how a site or a series of sites will be developed, 
setting the framework for efficient land use, connectivity, urban design, 

landscape/open space design, built form, infrastructure and service 
provision. 

 Support creation or expansion of integrated, mixed‐use neighbourhoods 
that combine residential, employment, commercial and community uses 
with easy access to facilities, services and good public transport connections.  

 Ensure built form achieves a strong sense of place that reflects the special 
visual and spatial character of the city. 
 

Uses  
 Provide  high‐density  residential  –  a  minimum  of  65  units  per  hectare  on 

average across all areas, and at least 100 units/hectare in specified areas.  
 Include a mix of uses – community, local centre, new schools, businesses and 

industrial land. 
 

Transport Infrastructure  
 New Bus Rapid Transit / Tram to enhance existing public transport corridor 

and bus link 
 Public transport to be provided through the site and to a public transport hub 

‐ tram/bus interchange,  
 Provide connections through the site with a focus on sustainable transport 

modes  and  connections  to  neighbouring  developments  and  employment 
uses.  

 Any  vehicular  routes  through  the  site  linking  the A8/Glasgow Road  should 
have bus priority measures and active travel routes.  

 

Education Infrastructure  

‐ New primary schools – 3 
‐ New secondary Schools ‐ 1 

A requirement for additional school capacity in West Edinburgh has already 
been identified in the Council’s current Action Programme.  

P
age 57



 

43 
 

These potential infrastructure requirements will be updated as we prepare the 
proposed plan, as part of a full transport and education appraisal. 
 
Grey infrastructure 

 Underground pylons  
   

P
age 58



 

44 
 

 

Map 15 ‐ Area 2 – West Edinburgh  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 59



 

45 
 

Potential Greenfield Sites  

Area 3 ‐ Kirkliston  
 
The  allocation  of  this  site  for  housing,  if  required,  would  give  the  Council  an 
opportunity to secure a site  in Kirkliston for a new secondary school as well as 
significant financial contributions from developers for its delivery. 
 
If allocated, development in Kirkliston could be supported on the land identified 
on Map 16, provided that development complies with the policies  in City Plan, 
and a Place Brief, delivering the following (but not limited to) principles.  
 

Design and Green/Blue Infrastructure  
• Provide  a  well‐connected  ecologically  diverse  landscape  which  enhances 

biodiversity / or provides a net gain to biodiversity  
• Provide  a  landscape  and  open  space  frameworks  that  creates  a  new 

extension to Kirkliston   
• Provide  a  landscape  adaptable  to  future  climate  change  including  above 

ground  water  management  areas,  linear  conveyance  water  features  for 
surface  water  incorporating  natural  processes  to  replicate  greenfield 
conditions for attenuation of discharge rate and volume.   

• Protect and restore the water environment to create a clean and natural river 
corridor restored to good ecological status with sufficient space for extreme 
flood events 

• Consider  wider  impacts  on  River  Basin management  in  relation  to  points 
above 

• Provide a robust green belt edge 
• Use landscape mounds to mitigate noise  impacts to residential areas from 

the bypass not noise attenuation fences. 
• Use analysis of the wider site context, including heritage and landscape, to 

assess  development  capacity  and  identify  measures  to  avoid  negative 
impact. 

• Use masterplan(s) to show how a site or a series of sites will be developed, 
setting  the  framework  for  efficient  land  use,  connectivity,  urban  design, 
landscape/open  space  design,  built  form,  infrastructure  and  service 
provision. 

• Support creation or expansion of integrated, mixed‐use neighbourhoods that 
combine  residential,  employment,  commercial  and  community  uses  with 
easy access to facilities, services and good public transport connections.  

• Ensure built form achieves a strong sense of place that reflects the special 
visual and spatial character of the city. 

Uses  
 Provide  high‐density  residential  –  a  minimum  of  65  units  per  hectare  on 

average across all areas and at least 100 units/hectare in specified areas. 
 Include a mix of uses – community, local centre, new schools, businesses and 

industrial land. 
 

Transport Infrastructure  
 Public transport to be provided through the site and to a public transport hub 

‐  tram/bus  interchange.  Transport  Infrastructure  requirements  will  be 
updated as we prepare the proposed plan, through a Transport Appraisal.  

 Provide connections through the site with a focus on sustainable transport 
modes  and  connections  to  neighbouring  developments  and  employment 
uses.  

 Any vehicular routes through the site should have bus priority measures and 
active travel routes.  

 

Education Infrastructure  

Substantial  new  housing  development  in  South  Queensferry  means  that 
Queensferry High School will not have the capacity to continue to accommodate 
pupils from Kirkliston Primary School.   

P
age 60



 

46 
 

The  Council  is  currently  considering  whether  Kirkliston  should  have  its  own 
secondary school or whether alternative secondary school provision will have to 
be provided elsewhere.  There is no site identified for a new secondary school and 
there is currently no funding in place.  Securing a site for a new secondary school 
with capacity  for at  least 900 pupils  in Kirkliston a more viable and deliverable 
option. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 61



 

47 
 

Map 16 ‐ Area 3 ‐ Kirkliston 

 

  

 

P
age 62



 

48 
 

Potential Greenfield Sites  

Area 4 ‐ East of Riccarton  
 
The  allocation  of  this  site  for  housing,  if  required,  would  create  a  new  urban 
extension  to  Edinburgh,  linking  the  communities of west Edinburgh across  the 
bypass to Heriot Watt University. Development of this site gives the Council an 
opportunity to  increase the catchment area of Wester Hailes Education Centre 
which would increase the school roll considerably, improve learning opportunities 
and curriculum choice. If allocated, development could be supported on the land 
identified on Map 17, provided that development complies with the policies  in 
City Plan, and a Place Brief, delivering the following (but not limited to) principles.  
 

Design and Green/Blue Infrastructure  

• Provide a well‐connected ecologically diverse landscape which enhances 
biodiversity / or provides a net gain to biodiversity  

• Provide a landscape and open space frameworks that creates a new 
extension to Edinburgh.  

• Provide a significant active travel and parkland over bypass connection.  
• Provide a landscape adaptable to future climate change including above 

ground water management areas, linear conveyance water features for 
surface water incorporating natural processes to replicate greenfield 
conditions for attenuation of discharge rate and volume.   

• Protect and restore the water environment to create a clean and natural 
river corridor restored to good ecological status with sufficient space for 
extreme flood events 

• Consider wider impacts on River Basin management in relation to points 
above 

• Provide a robust green belt edge 
• Use landscape mounds to mitigate noise impacts to residential areas from 

the bypass not noise attenuation fences  
• Use analysis of the wider site context, including heritage and landscape, to 

assess development capacity and identify measures to avoid negative 
impact. 

• Use masterplan(s) to show how a site or a series of sites will be developed, 
setting the framework for efficient land use, connectivity, urban design, 
landscape/open space design, built form, infrastructure and service 
provision. 

• Support creation or expansion of integrated, mixed‐use neighbourhoods 
that combine residential, employment, commercial and community uses 
with easy access to facilities, services and good public transport 
connections.  

• Ensure built form achieves a strong sense of place that reflects the special 
visual and spatial character of the city. 
 

Uses  
 Provide  high‐density  residential  –  a  minimum  of  65  units  per  hectare  on 

average across all areas and at least 100 units/hectare in specified areas. 
 Include a mix of uses – community, local centre, new schools, businesses and 

industrial land. 
 

Transport Infrastructure  
 Public transport to be provided through the site and to a public transport hub 

‐ tram/bus interchange.  
 Provide connections through the site with a focus on sustainable transport 

modes  and  connections  to  neighbouring  developments  and  employment 
uses.  

 Any vehicular routes through the site should have bus priority measures and 
active travel routes.  

 Transport  Infrastructure  requirements  will  be  updated  as  we  prepare  the 
proposed plan, through a Transport Appraisal. 

 Provide over bypass active travel route.  
 

Education Infrastructure  
The allocation of this site would give the Council an opportunity to increase the 
catchment  area  of Wester  Hailes  Education  Centre  which  would  increase  the 
school roll considerably, improve learning opportunities and curriculum choice.  

P
age 63



 

49 
 

As  we  prepare  the  proposed  plan,  an  education  appraisal  will  identify  how 
education infrastructure will accommodate the new pupils from this site. This is 
likely to require 3 new primary schools and or/ 1 new secondary school.  
   

P
age 64



 

50 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Map 17 ‐ Area 4 ‐ East of Riccarton  

 

P
age 65



 

51 
 

Potential Greenfield Sites  

Area 5 ‐ Calderwood  
 
This site is adjacent to development at West Lothian. New housing, if required in 
this location, could link to development and new education infrastructure being 
delivered  at  Calderwood.  If  allocated,  development  at  Calderwood  could  be 
supported on the land identified on Map 18, provided that development complies 
with the policies in City Plan, and a Place Brief, delivering the following (but not 
limited to) principles. 
 

Green/Blue Infrastructure  

• Address the setting of Bonnington House and designed landscape at Jupiter 
Artland ‐ the principles of the designed landscape and the setting of the art 
sculptures should be reflected in the design and layout of the site. Views 
from and to the sculptures and designed landscape features to be 
protected. 

• Provide a well connected ecologically diverse landscape which enhances 
biodiversity / or provides a net gain to biodiversity. 

• Provide a landscape framework that creates a new extension to 
Calderwood.   

• Provide a landscape adaptable to future climate change including above 
ground water management areas, linear conveyance water features for 
surface water incorporating natural processes to replicate greenfield 
conditions for attenuation of discharge rate and volume.   

• Provide a robust green belt edge 
• Use analysis of the wider site context, including heritage and landscape, to 

assess development capacity and identify measures to avoid negative 
impact. 

• Use masterplan(s) to show how a site or a series of sites will be developed, 
setting the framework for efficient land use, connectivity, urban design, 

landscape/open space design, built form, infrastructure and service 
provision. 

• Support creation or expansion of integrated, mixed‐use neighbourhoods 
that combine residential, employment, commercial and community uses 
with easy access to facilities, services and good public transport 
connections.  

• Ensure built form achieves a strong sense of place that reflects the special 
visual and spatial character of the city. 
 

Uses  
 Provide  high‐density  residential  –  a  minimum  of  65  units  per  hectare  on 

average across all areas and at least 100 units/hectare in specified areas. 
 Include a mix of uses – community, local centre, new schools, businesses and 

industrial land. 
 

Transport Infrastructure  
 Public transport to be provided through the site and to a public transport hub 

‐ tram/bus interchange,  
 Provide connections through the site with a focus on sustainable transport 

modes  and  connections  to  neighbouring  developments  and  employment 
uses.  

 Any vehicular routes through the site should have bus priority measures and 
active travel routes.  

 Transport  Infrastructure  requirements  will  be  updated  as  we  prepare  the 
proposed plan, through a Transport Appraisal. 
 

Education Infrastructure  

• New primary schools – 3 
• New secondary School ‐ 1 

P
age 66



 

52 
 

NOTE: new housing development here could link to education infrastructure 
being delivered to support the Calderwood site.  

Grey infrastructure 

• Underground pylons  

 
 
   

P
age 67



 

53 
 

Map 18 ‐ Area 5 ‐ Calderwood 
   

 

P
age 68



 

54 
 
   

Map 19 – All potential housing‐led mixed‐use sites, a range of which could form Option 3 – a blended approach 

P
age 69



 

55 
 

 

 

 

  

Edinburgh is a strong and resilient city, successful in creating jobs and attracting 
investment. However, Edinburgh is also a city of inequalities. There are still almost 
80,000 Edinburgh residents living on incomes below the UK poverty threshold.  
Promoting  inclusion  whilst  enabling  good  growth  and  innovation  are  the  key 
priorities of the Council’s Economy Strategy. 
 
City Plan 2030 will need to provide land for all types of businesses – big and small 
–  whether  they  are  office  based  or  require  industrial  units.  We  expect  older 
estates and business floorspace will be redeveloped for housing and other uses 
through the housing land requirements set out in Choice 12 – and we will need to 
find new land to accommodate businesses.   
 
The City Centre Transformation Project is looking at the way our city centre works, 
however Edinburgh currently has a further eight town centres, a network of local 
centres and commercial centres around the edge of  the city. These provide an 
important network of local services for residents. How we manage these centres 
will need to form part of City Plan 2030.  
 
To achieve these aims we want to consider the following choices to deliver a city 
in which everyone shares in its economic success: 
 
 Choice 13 – Supporting inclusive growth, innovation, universities, & culture  
 Choice 14 – Delivering West Edinburgh  
 Choice 15 ‐ Protecting and supporting our city centre, town centres and local 

centres  
 Choice 16 – Delivering office, business and industry floorspace 

 

   

A city where everyone shares in its economic success 

P
age 70



 

56 
 

Choice 13 ‐ Supporting inclusive growth, 
innovation, universities, & culture  
The City’s  Economy Strategy  supports new approaches  to  tackling  the barriers 
that  reinforce  poverty  and  inequality  and  establishing  Edinburgh  as  Scotland's 
leading city for fair work practices and socially responsible business. We also want 
Edinburgh to be the data capital of Europe and to build on our existing success as 
the UK’s most entrepreneurial city. 

Work on delivering these aims is already underway and the Edinburgh and South 
East  Scotland  City  Region  Deal,  signed  in  August  2018,  is  a  mechanism  for 
accelerating sustainable economic and inclusive growth in the City Region through 
maximising  these growth areas. £1.3 billion will be  invested across  Innovation, 
Skills, Transport, Culture and Housing themes over the next 15 years. 

We recognise the contributions that our partners are making to the wellbeing of 
our city and our economy. We want City Plan 2030 policies to support the delivery 
of good growth for Edinburgh.  

Our proposed change: 
A. We want to create a new policy that provides support for social enterprises, 

start‐ups, culture and tourism, innovation and learning, and the low carbon 
sector, where there is a contribution to good growth for Edinburgh.  

This would include policy support for:  
 Projects and actions arising from the transformation of the City Centre 
 Edinburgh’s festivals and cultural offering across the city 
 Development  associated  with  our  universities  and  colleges  that  relates  to 

innovation and learning 
 The Edinburgh BioQuarter  
 West Edinburgh (see also Choice 14)  

This policy will not be designed to provide support for standalone, purpose‐built 
student accommodation, short term lets, hotels or leisure, offices or business and 
industrial  land as these are covered under other Choices  in this document and 
policies in the local development plan.  

Instead of making this change: 
 

B. We could continue to use our existing policies which support 
development in Special Economic Areas. 

 
Current Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision:  
Special Economic Areas  
Edinburgh BioQuarter (Emp 2) 
Riccarton University Campus and Business Park (Emp 3) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 71



 

57 
 

 
Map 20 – Areas of support for inclusive growth, innovation, universities, & culture 

P
age 72



 

58 
 

Choice 14: Delivering West Edinburgh 
‘West Edinburgh’ refers to parts of the land in the west of the City administrative 
area, but not all of that land, as indicatively shown in the ‘area of search’ in Map 
21. It is nationally significant in transport and economic development terms. With 
major  uses  including  Edinburgh  Airport  and  the  Royal  Highland  Centre,  West 
Edinburgh currently has significant land allocations in our existing plan due to its 
potential  for growth, particularly business growth  in the  International Business 
Gateway, and for housing at Maybury and Cammo. 

West Edinburgh is well served by public transport including the existing tram line 
from the city to the airport, with a safeguard for a tramline extension past the 
Highland Centre and Ratho to Newbridge and the Airport express bus routes along 
the A8.  

The Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal seeks to maximise the 
use  of  existing  infrastructure  in  West  Edinburgh  and  has  a  £36m  investment 
profile for the area. The Council, with partners including the Scottish Government, 
has commissioned a study of wider West Edinburgh to look at the full potential of 
the area.  

Our proposed changes: 
A. We want City Plan 2030 to support the best use of existing public transport 

infrastructure  in West  Edinburgh and  accommodate  the development of  a 
mix of uses to support inclusive, sustainable growth. We will do this through 
‘an area of search’ which allows a wide consideration of future uses within 
West Edinburgh without being tied to individual sites. 

This  doesn’t mean  that  all  the  land within  that  area would  be  allocated  for 
development or for specific uses but allows City Plan 2030 to take into account 
the findings of  the West Edinburgh Study, and future decisions by the Scottish 
Government on uses within West Edinburgh.  

This approach will allow City Plan 2030 to consider the range of uses that could 
be  allocated  in  West  Edinburgh,  including  office  and  industry,  research  and 
education, hotel and leisure, housing and open spaces.  

 
B. We  want  to  remove  the  safeguard  in  the  existing  plan  for  the  Royal 

Highland Showground site to the south of the A8 at Norton Park and the 
site allocated for other uses.  
 

C. We want City Plan 2030 to allocate the Airport’s contingency runway, the 
“crosswinds runway” for the development of alternative uses next to the 
Edinburgh Gateway interchange.   

 
Instead of making these changes: 
 

D. We could retain existing policy which restricts uses to those associated with 
the airport and retain the existing LDP allocation for the Royal Highland 
Showground.  

 
 
Current Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision:  
Edinburgh Airport (Emp 4) 
Royal Highland Centre (Emp 5) 
International Business Gateway (Emp 6)  
RBS Headquarters Gogarburn (Emp 7)  

 

 
 
 

P
age 73



 

59 
    

 
Map 21 – Area of Search West Edinburgh (choice 14 option A) 

P
age 74



 

60 
 
 

 
Map 22 – Safeguard in the existing LDP for Royal Highland Showground site/Norton park Site choice 14 

P
age 75



 

61 
 
   

 
Map 23 – Crosswinds Runway Site  

P
age 76



 

62 
 

Choice 15 – Protecting our City Centre, Town and 
Local Centres 
Edinburgh’s city centre and town centres are in a healthy condition with very low 
vacancy rates in comparison to many across Scotland. As Edinburgh’s population 
grows there will be a growing demand for convenience and comparison‐shopping 
provision.   

Our Commercial Needs Study shows that with the growth of internet shopping, 
there is spare retail capacity within the city to accommodate most of this growth.  
It is only in the latter period of the plan that there may be a shortfall in comparison 
shopping provision. This will depend on how retail trends develop. 

Any additional shopping provision, if required, must be met within the city centre 
or town centres, to maintain their role, function and healthy condition. Outwith 
town or local centres, additional small‐scale convenience food shopping will be 
supported but only where there is a lack of provision within walking distance, to 
encourage active travel. 

Our proposed changes: 
A. We want to continue to use the national  ‘town centre  first’ approach. City 

Plan 2030 will protect and enhance  the  city  centre as  the  regional  core of 
south  east  Scotland  providing  shopping,  commercial  leisure,  and 
entertainment and tourism activities.  

 
B. We  will  also  support  and  strengthen  our  other  town  and  local  centres 

(including any new local centres) by ensuring that new shopping and leisure 
development is directed to them and only permitted where justified by the 
Commercial Needs study.  Outwith local centres, small scale proposals will be 
permitted only  in areas where there  is evidence of a  lack of food shopping 
within walking distance.  

 

C. We want to review our existing town and local centres including the potential 
for new identified centres and boundary changes where they support walking 
and  cycling  access  to  local  services  in  outer  areas,  consistent  with  the 
outcomes of the City Mobility Plan.   

 
D. We also want  to  continue  to prepare and update  supplementary guidance 

tailored  to  the  city  centre  and  individual  town  centres.  The  use  of 
supplementary guidance allows us to adapt to changing retail patterns and 
trends over  the period of  the  plan.  It  also  helps  us  ensure  an  appropriate 
balance  of  uses  within  our  centres  to maintain  their  vitality,  viability  and 
deliver good placemaking.   

 
E. We  also  want  to  support  new  hotel  provision  in  local,  town,  commercial 

centres  and  other  locations with  good  public  transport  access  throughout 
Edinburgh  in  response  to  evidence  of  strong  growing  visitor  demand  and 
reflecting limited availability of sites in the city centre. 

Instead of making this change: 
 
F. Instead we could stop using supplementary guidance for town centres and set 

out guidance within the plan.   
 

G. We could also seek to reduce the quantity of retail floorspace within centres 
in favour of alternative uses such as increased leisure provision and permit 
commercial centres to accommodate any growing demand.   

 
Current  Local  Development  Plan  (2016)  Policies  under 
revision:  
Town Centres First Policy (Ret 1) City Centre Retail Core (Ret 2) Town Centres 
(Ret  3)  Commercial  Centres  (Ret  4)  Local  Centres  (Ret  5)  Out  of  Centre 
Development (Ret 6) Supplementary Guidance 
Hotel Development (Emp 10)  

P
age 77



 

63 
 

   

 

 
Map 24 – Town and Local Centres and preferred hotel locations  

P
age 78



 

64 
 

Choice 16 – Delivering Office, Business and 
Industry Floorspace 
City Plan 2030 will need to ensure that we have enough business and industrial 
floorspace to meet the City’s demand, ensuring we are replacing the city’s ageing 
stock with modern estates/premises in the right place. 

Supporting the office market    
We know that there is strong demand for offices in the city centre, but there are 
limited sites for future development and demand is likely to continue.  

Office development competes with high demand and high value land uses such as 
hotels  and  student  accommodation.  Loss  of  office  floorspace  has  contributed 
significantly to reduced levels of supply, particularly in the city centre.  

In addition to high profile headquarters, the city has a deep pool of businesses 
across the size ranges, with a skew towards smaller organisations. Most of the 
city’s office market is mid‐market in terms of locations, size and price.  Access to 
public transport is a strong driver of demand.   

Our proposed change: 
A. We want to: 

 Continue to support office use at strategic office locations at Edinburgh 
Park/South  Gyle,  the  International  Business  Gateway,  Leith,  the  city 
centre, and in town and local centres.   

 Support office development at commercial centres as these also provide 
accessible locations.  

 Strengthen the requirement within the city centre to provide significant 
office floorspace within major mixed‐use developments.  

 Amend the boundary of the Leith strategic office location to remove areas 
with residential development consent.   

 Continue  to  support  office  development  in  other  accessible  locations 
elsewhere in the urban area.  
 

B. We want to  identify sites and locations within Edinburgh with potential for 
office development.   
 

C. We  want  to  introduce  a  loss  of  office  policy  to  retain  accessible  office 
accommodation. This would not permit the redevelopment of office buildings 
other than for office use, unless existing office space is provided as part of 
denser development.  This would apply across the city to recognise that office 
locations outwith the city centre and strategic office locations are important 
in meeting the needs of the mid‐market.   

 
D. Or we could Introduce a ‘loss of office’ policy only in the city centre. 

 

 
   

P
age 79



 

65 
 
 

 
Map 25 ‐ Strategic Office Locations 

P
age 80



 

66 
 

 

 
Map 26 – Revised Leith Strategic Business Centre 

P
age 81



 

67 
 

Business and Industrial Floorspace  
City Plan 2030 will need to ensure that we have enough business and industrial 
floorspace to meet the City’s demand, ensuring we are replacing the city’s ageing 
stock with modern estates/premises in the right place. 

Over half of all industrial floorspace in Edinburgh was built in or before the 1980s. 
We  also  expect  older  estates  and  business  floorspace will  be  redeveloped  for 
housing and other uses as set out in Choice 12.  

The City Mobility Plan  is also exploring options for a modern solution to urban 
logistics that doesn’t negatively impact on congestion, air quality or pose conflicts 
on  the  street  when  loading.  Freight,  consolidation  and  distribution  hubs  are 
compatible  with  business  and  general  industry  uses  and  ensuring  we  have 
sufficient  land  to accommodate potential  freight distribution hubs will  support 
that ambition.  

Our proposed change: 
E. We want to identify proposals for new modern business and industrial sites 

to provide necessary floorspace at the following locations:  
 
1. Leith Docks: Seafield  (Eastern Leith Docks), Britannia Quay and  land to 

the  south  of  Edinburgh  Dock  potentially  as  part  of  mixed‐use 
development. 

2. Newbridge: Extend the boundary of designated business land to include 
a  section  of  land  to  the  southwest  adjacent  to  the M8  and  potential 
development  capacity  of  land  to  the  west.  Support  in  principle  for 
bringing  back  into  industrial  use  derelict  or  former  industrial  uses, 
including the former Continental Tyres site.   

3. Newcraighall Industrial Estate. 
4. The  decommissioned  runway,  Edinburgh  Airport  (‘Crosswinds’):  an 

opportunity to provide business land as part of mixed‐use development 
(see Choice 14 – West Edinburgh). 

 
F. We  also  want  to  ensure  new  business  space  is  provided  as  part  of  the 

redevelopment of urban sites and considered  in Place Briefs  for greenfield 
sites.  

Our business estates across the city often serve a local catchment of residents and 
other  businesses.  To  retain  these  within  the  communities  they  serve,  we  will 
require  replacement  floorspace  is  re‐provided on‐site. We want  to  set out  the 
amount  expected  to  be  re‐provided  and  include  clearer  criteria  on  what 
constitutes flexible business space, and how to deliver it, including the location 
on‐site, and considering adjacent uses, servicing and visibility.    

G. We also want  to continue to protect  industrial estates  that are designated 
under our current policy on Employment Sites and Premises (Emp 8). 
 

H. We also want to introduce a policy that provides criteria for locations that we 
would support city‐wide and neighbourhood goods distribution hubs.  
 

Instead of making this change: 
 
I. Instead we could continue to use our current policies which support office use 

in the city centre, strategic business centres, town and local centres and other 
accessible  locations  and  require  significant  office  floorspace  within  major 
mixed‐use developments in the city centre. 
 

J. Instead we could continue to use our current policies on the protection of 
employment land and which aim to deliver employment land as part of mixed‐
use developments.  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 82



 

68 
 

 

Current  Local  Development  Plan  (2016)  policies  under 
revision:  
Office Development (Emp 1)  
Business and Industry Areas (Emp 8) 
Employment Sites and Premises (Emp 9) 
City Centre (Del 2)  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

P
age 83



 

69 
 

 

 
Map 27 ‐ Business and Industry Areas 

P
age 84



 

70 
 

Technical Changes 
The Proposed City Plan 2030 will include the following technical changes: 

A. Minor updates  to boundaries  to  reflect  survey work and  changes  in 
designation,  including  Local Nature Conservation  Sites,  conservation 
area  boundaries,  Green  Belt  amendments,  Scheduled  Ancient 
Monuments, and flooding.  
 

B. An update to our safeguards dealing with municipal waste to reflect 
the current Council waste management strategy and National Waste 
Strategy and continue to protect operation of all existing facilities.  We 
will also continue to support new facilities on existing sites, designated 
business and industry areas, operational or former quarries and other 
suitable  urban  sites  provided  there  will  be  no  significant  adverse 
impact on residential amenity or the environment.  

 
 

Local Development Plan (2016) policies under 
revision:  
Provision of New Waste Management Sites (RS 3)  
Waste Disposal Sites (RS 4)  
 

 
   

P
age 85



 

71 
 

 

 
Map 28 ‐ Waste Sites  

P
age 86



Development 
Plan 

Scheme 
January 2020 

Page 87



  Development Plan Scheme August 2019 

Contents 

Background         3 

What is a Development Plan Scheme?      3 

What is a Development Plan?       3

The bigger picture – 2050 City Vision and other strategies   4 

A new plan – City Plan 2030       5 

Participation Statement       8 

Early Engagement (up to December 2019)     8 

Choices for City Plan 2030 Consultation      8 

How Consultation will help us shape City Plan 2030    10 

How to stay informed        11 

 

Page 88



Development Plan Scheme  January 2020

3 

SCHOOL

 

 

BACKGROUND 
What is a Development Plan Scheme? 
A development plan scheme sets out how the next local development plan will 
be prepared. It includes: 

•  an explanation of what a local development plan is 

•  a timetable for preparing the next plan, to be called City Plan 2030, and 

•  details on how you can get involved in preparing City Plan 2030. 

The Council needs to publish a development plan scheme at least annually. The 
Council’s last development plan scheme was published in August 2019. 

What is a Development Plan? 
The planning system impacts on everyone. Our lives are shaped by the places we 
live, work and visit and these places are shaped by planning decisions. 

The Scottish Government requires Councils to prepare development plans for 
their areas. Local Development Plans contain a 10 year strategy for the future 
development of an area and set out policies and proposals to guide decision 
making on planning applications. 

A local development plan needs to take account of the following statutory 
documents: 

The National Planning Framework: this sets out, at the national level, the 
Scottish Government’s strategy for the country’s spatial development, including 
developments of national importance. The third National Planning Framework 
was published in June 2014. 

A Strategic Development Plan: this sets out a long term (20 years or more) 
spatial planning strategy for a city region, including where future development 
will be located and what is required to deliver it. The Strategic Development 
Plan for South East Scotland was approved in June 2013. It was prepared by the 
Strategic Development Plan Authority for Edinburgh and South East Scotland 
(SESplan). The six councils which are members of SESplan are Edinburgh, East 
Lothian, Fife, Midlothian, Scottish Borders and West Lothian. 

Page 89



Development Plan Scheme  January 2020

4 

SCH
O
O
L

 

 
 
 
 

 

The Strategic Development Plan, together with the local development plan and 
any associated supplementary guidance, form the statutory development plan 
referred to in decisions on planning applications. 

Edinburgh Local Development Plan (2016) - The current Edinburgh Local 
Development Plan (LDP) was formally adopded on 24 November 2016. The plan 
is available online at www.edinburgh.gov.uk/localdevelopmentplan. 

The adopted plan is to be accompanied by twelve pieces of Supplementary 
Guidance. These will also form part of the overall development plan.  They cover 
the following matters: 
• 9 town centres, including the City Centre Retail Core 
• Developer Contributions and Infrastructure Delivery 
• Edinburgh BioQuarter and Little France Park 
• Heat Opportunities Mapping 

The plan is being used to determine planning applications. It is accompanied 
by a statutory Action Programme which is being used to ensure delivery of the 
plan’s policies and proposals, including necessary infrastructure. 

Councils are currently required to review their local development plan at least 
every five years. 

Changes to the Planning System 
A Planning Bill was passed by the Scottish Parliament in June 2019.  It will 
not take effect for some time, because secondary legislation, guidance and 
transitional arrangements all need to be put in place by the Scottish Government.  
Accordingly, City Plan 2030 is being prepared under the existing legislation. 
Further information on changes to the planning system is available on the 
Scottish Government webpage. 

THE BIGGER PICTURE – 2050 CITY VISION AND OTHER 
STRATEGIES 
City Plan 2030 is being prepared at a time when the long-term future of 
Edinburgh is being considered. 

Edinburgh 2050 City Vision – an ongoing project in which residents, businesses 
and organisations define how they want the city to be in 2050. 

Page 90

www.edinburgh.gov.uk/localdevelopmentplan


Development Plan Scheme  January 2020

5 

SCH
O
O
L

 

 

Council Business Plan 2017-2022 - this sets out the Council’s commitments and 
priorities over a five year period, several of which are relevant to the new local 
development plan. 

National Planning Framework and policy – A replacement national planning 
framework is expected to be prepared during the preparation of City Plan 2030. 

Community Planning – Four Locality Improvement Plans have been prepared – 
one for each part of the Council’s area. In addition, an overall Community Plan 
has been prepared to coordinate services across the public and voluntary sector. 

City Mobility Plan – a new transport strategy is being prepared alongside a 
project to deliver City Centre Transformation, and a Low Emissions Zone. 

City Housing Strategy – a regularly updated strategy to deliver new affordable 
housing. 

Edinburgh Economy Strategy – a strategy approved in 2018 which aims to 
enable good growth for Edinburgh’s economy, based on inclusion, innovation and 
collaboration. 

A NEW PLAN – CITY PLAN 2030 
Our next local development plans can deliver the emerging vision of Edinburgh 
in 2050. The following diagram shows how a series of ten-year city plans can take 
us to 2050: 

2020 2025 2040 2035 2040 2045 2050 

2050 CITY VISION 

CITY PLAN 2030 
CITY PLAN 2040 

CITY PLAN 2050 

The new local development plan will be called City Plan 2030. This name is 
intended to help explain what time period the plan covers, and to be more user-
friendly than calling our next plan an ‘LDP’. 

Page 91



Development Plan Scheme  January 2020

 

Choices for 
City Plan 2030 

Proposed 
CITY PLAN 2030 

8 weeks consultation 

Consider and submit 

Examination 

6 weeks Representation 

Adopted
 City Plan 2030 

Early engagement 

Use and evaluation 

  Timetable 

2018 - 2019 
CURRENT STAGE 

31 January 2020 - 
27 March 2020 

End August - 
Start October 2020 

January 2021 

Start 2022 

6 

Page 92



Development Plan Scheme  January 2020

Stage 

Choices for City Plan 
2030 (main issues report) 
reported to Planning 
Committee 

Timetable 

After decision on Strategic 
 Development Plan 2 

Dates 

January 
2020 

Choices for City Plan 2030 
consultation period 8 weeks 

31 January 
2019 – 27
March 2020 

Proposed Plan  reported to 
Planning Committee 

8 months after publication of 
Choices for City Plan 2030 

August 2020

Period for representations 
on Proposed Plan 6 weeks 

End August – 
start October 

 2020* 

Submit Plan and 
representations to Scottish 
Ministers 

5 months after Proposed Plan 
formal publication 

January 2021* 
(assumes
no notifiable
modifications.) 

Examination and Report of  
Examination 

6 to 9 months (target) +
1 month administrative 
preparation 

November 
2021*

Plan as Modified Within 3 months after Report of 
Examination 

December
2021* 

Notify Scottish Ministers of  
intention to adopt 

Within 3 months after Report of 
Examination 

January 2022* 

Adoption Within 3 months after Plan as 
Modified

February 
2022* 

* Project stage duration estimates are derived from Circular 6/2013 Development Planning. 

7 

Page 93



Development Plan Scheme  January 2020

 

PARTICIPATION STATEMENT 
The following section sets out how we intend to engage during the preparation 
of City Plan 2030, and what we have been doing so far. 

Early Engagement (up to Autumn 2019) 
We have been working with community representatives and others to shape 
the choices to be presented in the main consultation stage in 2019/2020. This 
engagement has included the following: 

•  Community briefings and workshops including 12 briefings with community 
councillors and ward councillors and 6 community workshops. 

•  Children and Young People Engagement Programme, including 9 Place Standard
workshops in schools. 

•  Topic stakeholder discussion events, focusing on key land use issues including 
office and industry development, housing, visitor accommodation and shopping 
and leisure. 

•  Use of social media to build awareness and interest in the project. 

•  Engagement and consultation on closely-linked projects such as City Centre 

 

Transformation. 

Choices for City Plan 2030 Consultation 
The main issues report is the key consultation opportunity in the City Plan 2030 
project. Our main issues report is called ‘Choices for City Plan 2030’. It will set out 
the main choices for the new plan, including the Council’s preferred options for 
change and other reasonable alternatives.  

We will be consulting on these choices using the Council’s online Consultation 
Hub. Support will be provided to those who do not have access to online 
services. 

8 

Page 94



Development Plan Scheme  January 2020

 

The following activities will be used to raise awareness and encourage people to 
have their say: 
•  Launch of consultation document and questions on Consultation Hub. 

•  Publicity to raise awareness of consultation. 

•  Notification to those groups and individuals on the project mailing list telling
them how to comment. 

•  Staffed exhibitions in public places to raise awareness. 

•  Drop-in sessions to allow opportunity to find out more about consultation 
proposals. 

How Consultation will help us shape City Plan 2030 
Your choices in the main issues consultation will be used to help decide what 
should be in the next stage – the Proposed Plan. 

The Proposed Plan is due to be reported to Planning Committee in August 
2020. It will be accompanied by a summary explaining how the main issues 
consultation responses have been taken into account. 

The Proposed Plan will then be published for a 6 week period in which 
representations can be made. These can support the Proposed Plan, or seek 
changes to it.  These will then be considered, first by the Council then by a 
Scottish Government reporter in an examination. The examination report can 
make recommendations for changes to the plan. 

Other consultations 
It is intended to consult on the City Mobility Plan in January in parallel with the 
Choices for City Plan 2030 consultation. 

9 

Page 95



Development Plan Scheme  January 2020

10 

SCH
O
O
L

 
 

 

  

Choices for City Plan consultation runs 
31 January 2020 to 27 March 2020 
Date Time Location What’s on 
Saturday 1 
February 

11am to 3pm Juniper Green Village 
Hall 

Drop-in 

Monday 3 
February 

4pm to 7pm Gilmerton Library Drop-in 

Saturday 8 
February 

11am to 4pm The Wash House 
Portobello 

Drop-in & City Mobility 

Monday 10 
February 

1pm to 7pm Urban Room, 
Waverley Court, 
Council Offices

Drop-in & Consultation 
hub surgery 

Wednesday 12 
February 

10am to 8pm European Room, 
City Chambers 

Awareness raising 

Thursday 13 
February 

4pm to 7.30pm Kirkliston Parish Hall Drop-in 

Saturday 15 
February 

11am to 3pm Edinburgh Bus 
Station 

Awareness raising 

Wednesday 19 
February 

4pm to 7pm Wester Hailes 
Library 

Awareness raising 

Saturday 22 
February 

11am to 3pm Waverley Station Awareness raisings 

Monday 24 
February 

4pm to 7pm Piershill Library Consultation hub 
surgery 

Wednesday 26 
February 

4pm to 7pm YMCA, Leith Drop-in 

Saturday 29 
February 

11am to 3pm Ocean Terminal Awareness raising 

Monday 2 March 4pm to 7pm Fountainbridge 
Library 

Consultation hub 
surgery 

Wednesday 4 
March 

4pm to 7pm Blackhall Library Drop-in 

Saturday 7 
March 

11am to 3pm Gyle Shopping 
Centre 

Awareness raising 

Monday 9 March 4pm to 7pm Leith Library Consultation hub 
surgery 

Wednesday 11 
March 

4pm to 7pm Drum Brae hub Consultation hub 
surgery 

Saturday 14 
March 

11am to 3pm Cameron Toll Awareness raising 

Thursday 19 
March 

1pm to 8.30pm St Bride’s Centre Drop-in & City Mobility 

Public promotion 
– pop-up displays 
in key locations 
with planning 
staff. Members 
of the public can 
find out about the 
consultation, what 
it’s about and how to 
take part. 

Drop-in sessions 
- open to all who 
are interested in 
the Choices for City 
Plan 2030. All are 
welcome to drop-in 
look through the 
documents and have 
a chat with planning 
staff on what is 
proposed through 
Choices. 

Page 96



Development Plan Scheme  January 2020

11 

SCH
O
O
L

 

 

    

 

   

 
 

 

The Proposed Plan is due to be reported to Planning Committee in August 
2020. It will be accompanied by a summary explaining how the main issues 
consultation responses have been taken into account. 

The Proposed Plan will then be published for a 6 week period in which 
representations can be made. These can support the Proposed Plan, or seek 
changes to it.  These will then be considered, first by the Council then by a 
Scottish Government reporter in an examination. The examination report can 
make recommendations for changes to the plan. 

HOW TO STAY INFORMED 
Follow us: 

Twitter:@planningedin 

Blog: planningedinburgh.com 

View the project webpage at: www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030 

To find out more about engagement in the City Plan 2030 project or add yourself 
to the mailing list: 

cityplan2030@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Questions about the content of the current local development plan: 
localdevelopmentplan@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Contact us by post 

City Plan team, 

Waverley Court (G3), 

4 East Market Street, 

Edinburgh EH3 8BG 

You can request more copies of this leaflet by calling 0131 529 4692 Page 97

www.edinburgh.gov.uk/cityplan2030
https://planningedinburgh.com


  

 

SCH
O
O
L

Development Plan Scheme 
January 2020   

You can get this document on tape, in Braille, large print 
and various computer formats if you ask us. Please contact 
Interpretation and Translation Service (ITS) on 0131 242 
8181 and quote reference number 19-5213. ITS can also give 

information on community language translations. 

Page 98


	Agenda
	6.1 Choices for City Plan 2030
	Choices for City Plan
	Appendix 1 - Choices for City Plan
	Appendix 2 - Choices for City Plan




